
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Michael Cunliffe, Democratic Services (01254) 380109 
Email:  michael.cunliffe@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Friday, 9 November 2018 

Page 1 of 3  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Audit Committee 
 
Monday, 19 November 2018 at 5.00 pm, 
Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Noordad Aziz 
Vice-Chair:  Councillor Diane Fielding 
 
Councillors Bernadette Parkinson, Kath Pratt, Michael Miller and Tim O'Kane 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence, Declarations of Interest, Dispensations and Substitutions   
 

2.   Minutes of the Last Meeting  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
To submit the minutes of the last meeting of the Audit Committee held on the  
30th July 2018 for approval as a correct record. 
 
Recommended - That the minutes be received and approved as a  

correct record. 
 

3.   Risk Management Monitoring Report  (Pages 9 - 30) 
 
To inform Audit Committee of the outcome of the review of the Strategic, Generic and 
Operational Risk Registers and the annual review of partnerships. 
 
Recommended - That the report be noted for informational  

purposes. 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2018-2019 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 3 

 

4.   Audit Reports and Key Issues- Progress Report for the period July-October 2018  
(Pages 31 - 36) 
 
The Head of Audit and Investigations submitted a report to inform members of the Audit 
Committee of Audit Reports issued during the period July- October 2018 and bring to the 
attention of the Committee what the key issues were. 
 
Recommended - That the report be noted for informational  

purposes. 
 

5.   Audit Follow-Ups Report for the Period August- October 2018  (Pages 37 - 42) 
 
The Head of Audit and Investigations submitted a report to inform members of the Audit 
Committee of the outcome of routine follow-ups following the previously agreed action 
plans for completed Audit Records. The follow-ups detailed within the report are those 
carried out during the period August- October 2018. 
 
Recommended - That the report be noted for informational  

purposes. 
 

6.   Local Government Association- Independent Financial Peer Review Report 2018  
(Pages 43 - 66) 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report to inform members of the Audit 
Committee of the outcome of the Local Government Association Independent Financial 
Peer Review, which was undertaken over the Summer of 2018. 
 
Recommended - That the report be noted for informational  

purposes. 
 

7.   The Annual Audit Letter for Hyndburn Borough Council (Grant Thornton)  (Pages 
67 - 78) 
 
To inform members of the Annual Audit Letter which summarises the key findings arising 
from the work carried out at Hyndburn Borough Council for the year ended 31 March 
2018. The letter is intended to communicate the results of their work to the council and 
external stakeholders. It also highlights issues that they wish to draw to the attention of 
the public. 
 
Recommended - That the report be noted for informational  

purposes. 
 

8.   Audit Progress Report and Sector Update (Grant Thornton)  (Pages 79 - 92) 
 
The report informed members of the Audit Committee with an update on progress as of 
November 2018 in delivering Grant Thornton’s responsibilities as external auditors to the 
Council. It included a summary of emerging national issues and developments that may 
be relevant and a number of challenge questions in respect of emerging issues which the 
Committee may wish to consider. 
 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 

Recommended - That the report be noted for informational  
purposes. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 

 
Monday, 30th July, 2018 

 
Present:  Councillor Noordad Aziz (in the Chair), Councillors Diane Fielding (Vice 

Chair), Michael Miller, Tim O'Kane and Kath Pratt 
 

Apologies Councillor Bernadette Parkinson 

  

 
87 Apologies for Absence, Declarations of Interest, Dispensations and Substitutions 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillor Bernadette Parkinson, Mark Beard 
and Mike Walker. 
 
There was no substitute representative for Councillor B. Parkinson. 
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

88 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 
The minutes of the last meeting held on the 19th March 2018 were submitted for approval.  
 
Resolved - That the minutes be received and approved as a correct  

record.  
 

89 Annual Internal Audit Report & Audit Opinion 2017/18 
 
The Head of Audit and Investigations had submitted a report to inform and update Audit 
Committee on the Annual Internal Audit Report and Audit Opinion for 2017/18 and to give 
details on the performance of the Internal Audit Team and final outturn position for 2017/18 
  
The HBC Senior Auditor provided a detailed summary to Members and was pleased to 
report that good levels of internal control were found to be in place and no significant areas 
of concern were found that could impact on the Council’s Financial Statements.  
 
The Audit Opinion for 2017/18 was classed as ‘’Substantial assurance’ which meant that 
work undertaken was generally conducted with a sound system of internal control designed 
to meet the service objectives. The controls in place are generally being applied 
consistently, however some weaknesses in the design and/or inconsistent application of 
controls put the achievement of particular objectives at risk. 
 
Each audit report issued was given an audit opinion on the issues identified and reported by 
internal audit. Table 2 of the report showed the opinions and how many each were issued in 
2017/18.  
 
Table 4 of the report detailed performance for 2017/18 together with the two most recent 
financial years as a comparison. 
 
An amendment would be made to paragraph 3.21 of the report which stated that two audit 
engagements were almost complete as at 31st March 2017. The year should state 2018 and 
the Chair requested that this be changed accordingly.  

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.



 
 
 

 

 
 

 
Target coverage for the 2017/18 Audit Plan was 98% and 94.12% was achieved. Whilst the 
out-turn figure was not significantly below the actual target, the Head of Audit & 
Investigations has carried out additional calculations and established that had there been 
no sickness, special leave, compassionate leave and other leave then the out-turn figure for 
the year would have been 96.24% which would have been 1.76% below the target 
coverage. Therefore the 2018/19 Audit Plan coverage target remains at 98%.  
 
Resolved - That the report be noted for informational purposes. 
 

90 Audit Reports & Key Issues- Progress Report for the Period April- July 2018 
 
The Head of Audit and Investigations submitted a report to inform members of the Audit 
Committee of Audit Reports issued during the period April- July 2018 and bring to the 
attention of the Committee what the key issues were.  
 
The HBC Senior Auditor reported there was a target of 98% of the audit plan to be 
completed by the end of the current financial year in terms of audit days completed. The 
figures contained in the report gave updated details to the end of June 2018 (22.64% of the 
plan completed) and the projected out turn position for 2018/19 (90.56% of the plan 
completed). 
 
A summary of the main issues arising from audits carried out between April- June 2018 was 
attached to Appendix 1 of the report and detailed both substantial and comprehensive audit 
assurance in the following areas:  
 
Substantial Assurance 
Creditors 
 
Comprehensive Assurance 
Project Quliien (Garden waste payment system) 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support 
Cemeteries and Crematorium 
 
No assurance rating had been allocated to external body nominations as the report issued 
to management team had not been dealt with due to other issues of greater importance. 
 
The Chair asked the Deputy Chief Executive to address this issue as the report had been 
sent in February and requested an update at the next Audit Committee meeting. 
 
Resolved - That the report be noted for informational purposes. 
 

91 Audit Follow-Ups Report for the Period April- July 2018 
 
The Head of Audit and Investigations submitted a report to inform members of the Audit 
Committee on the outcome of routine follow-ups following previous agreed action plans for 
completed Audit Records. The follow-ups detailed within the report were those carried out 
during the period April- July 2018. 
 
The information on the following follow-ups were carried out during the period April to July 
2018 and were detailed within Appendix 1 of the report. 
 
Data security and storage 
2 actions agreed and 2 actions had been implemented 
 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
 

Pest Control payment methods 
4 actions agreed and 1 actions had been implemented 
 
Taxi Licences 
1 action agreed and 1 action had been implemented 
 
ICT Assets 
1 action agreed and 1 action had been implemented 
 
CVMU Maintenance Schedules 
2 actions agreed and 2 action had been implemented 
 
Councillor Tim O’Kane requested if the internal audit team would investigate the insurance 
write off of taxis by the licensing department as minor damaged vehicles may be written off 
unfairly. 
 
Resolved - That the report be noted for informational purposes. 
 

92 Audit Findings for Hyndburn Borough Council (Year ended 31 March 2018) - Grant 
Thornton 
 
Grant Thornton submitted a report to inform members of the committee on the audit 
findings and highlighted the key findings arising from the statutory audit of HBC and the 
preparation of the Council’s financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2018 for 
those charged with governance. 
 
The external auditors acknowledged the HBC Accountancy Department for their work in 
meeting the earlier deadline this year and commented that the workings are of a good 
quality. 
 
The Chair repeated Grant Thornton’s statement and requested that a thank you be 
recorded in the minutes to the Head of Accountancy and the finance team for their work in 
this challenging year to meet the required standards. 
 
The report was explained with a summary of details for each section and Members were 
invited to ask any questions. 
 
The contents of the report relate only to those matters which came to Grant Thornton’s 
attention during the conduct of normal audit procedures which are designed primarily for the 
purpose of expressing their opinion on the financial statements and giving a value for 
money conclusion. 
 
Andrew Smith of Grant Thornton went through the report with a summary of details for each 
section, which included:  
 

 Financial statements 

 Value for money arrangements 

 Statutory duties 

 Significant and possible audit risks 

 Accounting policies 

 Audit adjustments 

 Fees 

 Draft audit opinion 

 Draft letter of management representations 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
 

 
Resolved - That the report be noted for informational purposes. 
 

93 Statement of Accounts 2017/2018 
 
The Head of Accountancy, David Donlan submitted a report to inform Audit Committee on 
the production of the Annual Accounts and their External Audit and deal with issues arising 
from this work. 
 
The HBC statement of accounts was attached to the supplemental agenda as an appendix 
along with a letter of representation and Capital Outturn report which contained slippage on 
the Capital Programme. 
 
Councillor Diane Fielding abstained from voting on this item due to insufficient time to read 
the reports as these were released in the supplemental agenda published in the previous 
week to the meeting. 
 
Resolved - (1) That Audit Committee approved and signed the  

Council’s Statement of Accounts for 2017/18; and 
 

- (2) That Audit Committee approved and signed the letter of 
representation; and 

 
- (3) That Audit Committee approved the slippage on the Capital 

Programme; and -  
 

  -  (4) That Audit Committee noted the audit findings report. 
 

94 Time/Date/Venue of Next Meeting of Committee 
 
Resolved - That the next meeting of the Audit Committee be held on  

Monday 19th November 2018 at 5.00pm in Scaitcliffe House. 
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 8



 

 
 

REPORT TO:  Audit Committee 
 
DATE:   19th November 2018 
 
REPORT BY: Michael Walker, Head of Corporate 
 Stuart Sambrook, Policy and Research Officer 
 
Risk Management Monitoring Report and Partnership Review 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
To inform Audit Committee of the outcome of: 

 the review of the Strategic, Generic and Operational Risk Registers, and 

 the annual review of partnerships 
 
2. Recommendation 
 
I recommend that Audit Committee notes the report. 
 
3. Background 
 

 At its meeting on 29th September 2003, Standards Committee was presented with details of the Council’s 
Risk Management Policy and associated Strategic and Operational Risk Registers. 

 The report also set out a protocol for updating the risk registers in addition to ensuring that the risks 
already identified are monitored and action plans are in place to mitigate against these risks wherever 
possible. 

 Management Team received a report on 15th March, 2006 regarding the transfer of responsibility for 
updating the Risk Register to the Policy, Partnerships and Performance team (now Corporate Policy 
Team). 

 The protocol for updating the risk tables has been followed and the information gathered forms the basis 
of this report and any associated documents. 

 The risk management definition was revised and adopted by Cabinet on the 13th September, 2007. 

 Changes to the structure and accountability protocols for the risk registers were approved by 
Management Team at their meeting on the 11th June 2008. These changes are reflected in this report. 

 Management Team (9th June 2010) and Audit Committee (21st June 2010) accepted a proposal to revise 
the process for reviewing the risk registers. The proposal was adopted by Cabinet on the 30th June 2010. 
This revised approach has been followed in this report. 

 Management Team (11th January 2012) accepted proposals to revise the structure of the risk registers 
and Audit Committee were informed of the changes (30th January 2012). 

 In October 2013 Internal Audit published a report of their review of partnerships to determine if they are 
established and managed effectively. The audit report recommended that the list of identified 
partnerships be reviewed annually. It was agreed that the Corporate Performance Manager would 
undertake an annual partnership review and report the finding to Management Team and Audit 
Committee as part of the risk register review process. 

 The changes to the risk registers reflected in this report are correct as at Wednesday 31st October 2018. 

 A separate report was presented to Management Team on the 7th November, 2018. 

 

4. Reasons for Recommendations 
 
To inform Audit Committee of the amendments arising from the review of Strategic, Generic and Operational 
Risk Registers and the Register of Partnerships. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3.



 

 
 

 
5. Changes to the Strategic Risk Register 

 

There have been no major changes to the Strategic Risk Register but a number of minor changes have been 
made which are detailed in Appendix 1 (Page 5). 

 

6. Changes to the Generic Risk Register 

 
There have been 2 new risks added to the Generic Risk Register during this review. The new risks are 
summarised below with full details shown in Appendix 2 (Page 6).  
 

Area Change Risk Rating 
With Controls 

NEW RISKS  

Information 

 

(Page 6) 

Risk 

There is a risk that ICT hardware could be lost or stolen, exposing 
confidential information. 
Risk Owner 
Head of ICT Services 
 

Low 

Information 

 

(Page 6) 

Risk 

There is a risk that personal, sensitive, or bulk information is released 
into the public domain resulting in a likely GDPR fine, and a possible 
financial loss to the citizen. 
Risk Owner 
Head of ICT Services 
 

Medium 

 
Details of all changes to the Generic Risk Register are shown in Appendix 2 (Page 6). 
 
7. Changes to the Operational Risk Register 

 
There have been three new risks submitted for inclusion in the Operational Risk Register. The new risks are 
summarised below. 
 

Area Change Risk Rating 
With Controls 

NEW RISK 

Technological 

(Page 9) 

Risk 

There is a risk that a computer virus/malware could infect the HBC 
network 
Risk Owner 
Head of ICT Services 

Low  

Technological 

(Page 9) 

Risk 

There is a risk that ICT Systems may fail and affect front line 
services, resulting in staff being unable to carry out their normal 
working activities 
Risk Owner 
Head of ICT Services 

Low  

Technological 

(Page 10) 

Risk 

There is a risk that ICT systems and the network could fail due to 
insufficient infrastructure capacity or accidental damage 
Risk Owner 
Head of ICT Services 

Medium  

Page 10



 

 
 

 
Details of all changes to the Operational Risk Register are shown in Appendix 3 (Page 9). 
 
 
8. Summary Risk Register 

A summary list of all risks contained in the Generic, Operational and Strategic Risk Registers is given in 
Appendix 4 Page 15. 
 
9. Review of Partnerships 

In October 2013 Internal Audit published a report of their review of partnerships to determine if the 
partnerships are established and managed effectively. The audit report recommended that the list of 
identified partnerships be reviewed annually. In response to this recommendation it was agreed that an 
annual review would take place and that it would be integrated with the risk register review. Appendix 5 
(Page 18) sets out the reviewed lists of partnerships. 
 
10. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 

 
Not applicable 
 
11. Implications 

 

Issue 
 

Comments 

Financial (including 
mainstreaming) 

None associated with the report recommendations 

Legal None associated with the report recommendations 

Assessment of Risk None associated with the report recommendations 

Equality Does the report or decision propose to introduce or change policy, 
procedures, working practice or service provision? 
 
No 

Key Decision 
Only applicable for Cabinet decisions. 

Is the recommendation a Key Decision? No 
 

 

12. Consultations 
 

Consultation with Directors and Heads of Service has taken place. 
 
13. Links to Corporate Priorities 
 

Priority 
 

Comments 

Corporate Governance And Customer Focus Effective risk management supports the 
achievement of all the council’s objectives but 
links most directly to Corporate Governance. 

Safer Communities  

Strong & Balanced Housing Market   

Thriving Economy  

Safeguarding the Environment  

Valuing Diversity  

Educational Attainment  

Healthier Living  

 
  

Page 11



 

 
 

 
14. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
 Strategic Risk Register 

Generic Risk Register 
Operational Risk Register 

 
15. Freedom of Information 
 
The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A and all 
information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 
 
16. Exempt Report 
 
The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972 Schedule 12A. 

Page 12



 

 
 

Appendix 1 – Amendments to Strategic Risk Register 
CHANGES TO STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

 

KEY 

New or amended text 

Deleted text 

 

Amendments made by Deputy Chief Executive Resources 
 

Risk Owner: Deputy Chief Executive Resources 

FINANCIAL RISK 1029 
Loss of income from unpaid invoices more than 6 months old impacting on General Fund revenue Balances. 

Associated Risk Officers: All Service Managers 

Risk Rating 
Likelihood Impact Priority 
Rarely or never happened before Serious disabling injury/ill health, financial loss 

between £500,000 and £2,000,000, significant 
disruption to service exceeding 1 week and/or 
adverse national media coverage 

Low 

Controls - Measures Currently in Place to Manage Risk 
 Regular monitoring of all outstanding invoices by CMT via comprehensive quarterly reports from Executive 

Director (Resources) Head of Accountancy and Admin 

 Monthly statements of outstanding invoices to be sent to Service Managers responsible for initiating invoices 
for review and action 

 Payment enforcement actions and procedures are the subject of ongoing reviews to improve recovery 
effectiveness 

 Introduction of alternative payment methods, with advance payment for particular services are now in place  

 Service managers now advised not to provide further non-mandatory services where customers have 
outstanding invoices 

 Review of current provision for bad debts write offs 

 
 

  

Page 13



 

 
 

Appendix 2 – Amendments to Generic Risk Register 
CHANGES TO Generic RISK REGISTER 

 

KEY 

New or amended text 

Deleted text 

 

New Risk made by Head of ICT Services 
 

Risk Owner: Head of ICT Services 

INFORMATION RISK 2023 
There is a risk that ICT hardware, e.g. laptops, smart phone or tablet, could be lost or stolen, exposing confidential 
information. 

Associated Risk Officers: All Service Managers 

Risk Rating 
Likelihood Impact Priority 
Likely to happen over the next 1 to 2 
years 

Minor injury/ill health, financial loss up to £500,000, 
less than 1 week service disruption and/or adverse 
local media coverage 

Low 

Controls - Measures Currently in Place to Manage Risk 
 Encryption of council provided ICT equipment to prevent/limit unauthorised access 

 Use of passcodes to access smart phones and tablets 

 Virtual security in place on tablets and smart phones to enable device to be locked and/or wiped remotely if 
required 

 User security policies updated and available on Hyntranet 

 Awareness raised at staff and Councillor induction 

 Continued promotion of incident reporting culture to allow timely remedial action 

 Personal Commitment statement signed by all staff to reinforce clear ownership as a business issue not solely 
and ICT responsibility 

 
 

INFORMATION RISK 2024 

There is a risk that personal, sensitive, or bulk information is released into the public domain resulting in a likely GDPR 
fine, and a possible financial loss to the citizen. Causes include unauthorised penetration of ICT systems (external 
hacking);  internal misuse of information (internal hacking); careless disposal of waste; loss of equipment/theft of 
equipment; data quality; process adherence; e-mail sent to incorrect recipient. 

Associated Risk Officers: All Service Managers 

Risk Rating 
Likelihood Impact Priority 
Regularly occurs daily or weekly Serious disabling injury/ill heath, financial loss 

between £500,000 and £2,000,000, significant 
disruption to service exceeding 1 week and/or 
adverse national media coverage 

Medium 

Controls - Measures Currently in Place to Manage Risk 
 Trained, professional staff 

 Regular software updates and patches applied when released 

 Continued user education regarding Cyber Security attacks 

 Continued user education regarding vigilance when composing and sending emails 

 Instructions available on Hyntranet to disable auto-complete facility locally 

 Personal Commitment statement signed by all staff to reinforce clear ownership as a business issue not solely 
and ICT responsibility 

 Current end point security to prevent/block attack via email 

 Current Firewalls to monitor network traffic 

 ICT policies in place to prevent access to unauthorised and unmonitored access to web-based file sharing sites Page 14



 

 
 

 ICT-controlled access to web-based file transfer packages 

 Recorded consultation with Head of Audit when access to file-transfer facilities required 

 Clear audit trail when access requested 

 Latest TLS encryption protocol to protect data during online payments 
 
 

Amendments made by Head of Human Resources 
 

PHYSICAL RISK 2008 
Failure to ensure health and safety of employees and members of the public and comply with Health & Safety 

Legislation both in, around and outside the workplace. 

Associated Risk Officers: Management Team 

Risk Rating 
Likelihood Impact Priority 
Rarely or never happened before Fatality, financial loss in excess of £2,000,000,  Medium 
 non-delivery of service exceeding 3 weeks and/or  

 adverse international media coverage  

Controls - Measures Currently in Place to Manage Risk 

 Health & safety is part of employee induction 

 Health & Safety Policy & Procedures 

 Regular Training – e.g. several managers achieved IOSH in 2018. 

 Implement rolling Corporate H&S plan 

 Annual Programme Health & Safety refreshers 

 Head of Environmental Services manages Health & Safety in accordance with Corporate Health & Safety 

Policies through the Safety Committee. 

 Corporate Health and Safety Officer 

 Six monthly reports to CMT 

 TUC Safety Officer and Safety Representatives 

 Comprehensive Risk Assessments 

 Pre use safety inspection system for all operations, equipment and vehicles 

 Safe Systems of Work procedure handbook issues for Waste Services 

 Conflict Resolution training for front line staff dealing with members of the public 

 Operational safety improvement group looking at high risk service areas 

 Events Safety Group to review corporate liability issues around events on council property 

 Comprehensive Accident / Incident reporting system looking at Root Cause Analysis and trend analysis 

 Workplace Wellbeing Charter, awarded excellent status 

 Protocols for working alone 

 Programme of Risk Assessment Reviews appropriate to Service 

 Site specific risk assessments give consideration to both employees and others who may be affected by the 

Council’s operations 

 Provision of suitable support, counselling and training 

 Health and Safety Committee 

 Business Continuity Plans 

 Routine safety inspections for playgrounds, trees, headstones etc. 

 Driver safety policy and handbook 
o Regular Driver Competent Assessment Programme 

o Annual Licence Checks 

o Vehicle Safety Checks 

o Reverse Assistant Training 

 Safety Improvement Group (SIG) Established 
Page 15



 

 
 

 External qualified consultants have undertaken fire risk assessments to the Council's 7 main (staffed) buildings 

 Drug and Alcohol policy with random testing for safety critical roles. 

 Provision of trained First Aiders. 

 Clear responsibilities for Building Managers. 
 
 

  

Page 16



 

 
 

Appendix 3 – Amendments to Operational Risk Register 
CHANGES TO OPERATIONAL RISK REGISTER 

 

KEY 

New or amended text 

Deleted text 

 

New Risk made by Head of ICT Services 
 

Risk Owner: Head of ICT Services 

TECHNOLOGICAL RISK 130 
There is a risk that a computer virus / malware could infect the HBC network due to a failure of protection mechanisms 
to identify and treat a virus, and the failure of Council staff to observe ICT policies and recommended working practices. 

Associated Risk Officers: All Service Managers 

Risk Rating 
Likelihood Impact Priority 
Likely to happen over the next 1 to 2 
years 

Minor injury/ill health, financial loss up to £500,000, 
less than 1 week service disruption and/or adverse 
local media coverage 

Low 

Controls - Measures Currently in Place to Manage Risk 
 User security policies updated and available on Hyntranet 

 Awareness raised at staff and Councillor induction 

 Full management of user access rights on systems 

 Monitoring of external/3
rd

 party access to internal systems 

 Personal Commitment statement signed by all staff to reinforce clear ownership as a business issue not solely 

and ICT responsibility 

 Continued promotion of incident reporting culture 

 Annual penetration testing by 3
rd

 party to identify potential network vulnerabilities 

 Secure disposal and shredding of project data and paperwork 

 Trained, ICT professional staff 

 Regular software updates and patches applied when released 

 Daily system and data backups 

 Regular maintenance of ICT Business Continuity Plan 

 Documented policies and procedures surrounding backups 

 Individual service area Business Continuity Plans 

 Regular internal audit or ICT systems 

 Continued user education regarding Cyber Security attacks 

 Current end point security to prevent/block attack via email 

 Current Firewalls to monitor network traffic 

 ICT policies in place to prevent access to unauthorised and unmonitored access to web-based file sharing sites 

 CiSP membership for up-to-date data regarding malware threats 

 Regular updates from 3
rd

 party suppliers regarding malware threats 

 

 

Risk Owner: Head of ICT Services 

TECHNOLOGICAL RISK 131 

There is a risk that ICT Systems may fail and affect front line services e.g. Academy, Paris, Microsoft Dynamics, 
resulting in council staff being unable to carry out their normal working activities impacting on the quality of service 
delivered to the citizens of Hyndburn. Causes include intentional modification of software, hardware or it's environment; 
unintentional modification of software, hardware or it's environment; unauthorised modification of software, hardware or 
it's environment; malicious modification of software, hardware or it's environment. 

Page 17



 

 
 

Associated Risk Officers: All Service Managers 

Risk Rating 
Likelihood Impact Priority 
Likely to happen over the next 1 to 2 
years 

Minor injury/ill health, financial loss up to £500,000, 
less than 1 week service disruption and/or adverse 
local media coverage 

Low 

Controls - Measures Currently in Place to Manage Risk 
 Daily system and data backups 

 Regular maintenance of ICT Business Continuity Plan 

 Trained, professional ICT staff 

 Documented policies and procedures surrounding backups 

 Individual service area Business Continuity Plans 

 Regular software updates and patches applied when released 

 Continued user education regarding Cyber Security attacks 

 Current end point security to prevent/block attack via email 

 Current Firewalls to monitor network traffic 

 ICT policies in place to prevent access to unauthorised and unmonitored access to web-based file sharing sites 

 

 

Risk Owner: Head of ICT Services 

TECHNOLOGICAL RISK 132 

There is a risk that ICT systems and the network could fail due to insufficient infrastructure capacity or accidental 
damage, resulting in the degradation or loss of ICT Services on one or more sites. Causes include insufficient 
bandwidth on network links to handle data and / or voice traffic; insufficient storage space to save data on servers; 
equipment incapable of carrying out its required function effectively; services being affected due to insufficient licences; 
accidental damage by 3rd parties 

Associated Risk Officers: All Service Managers 

Risk Rating 
Likelihood Impact Priority 
Likely to happen over the next 1 to 2 
years 

Serious disabling injury/ill heath, financial loss 
between £500,000 and £2,000,000, significant 
disruption to service exceeding 1 week and/or 
adverse national media coverage 

Medium 

Controls - Measures Currently in Place to Manage Risk 

 Trained, ICT professional staff 

 Regular software updates and patches applied when released 

 Daily system and data backups 

 Regular maintenance of ICT Business Continuity Plan 

 Documented policies and procedures surrounding backups 

 Individual service area Business Continuity Plans 

 Regular internal audit or ICT systems 

 All dark infrastructure secured in locked server cabinets and server room with restricted access 

 All network cables linking council sites located in trenches with service access points 

 Choice of 2 3
rd

 party network engineers available if/when required to make repairs to network cable if damaged 

  

Page 18



 

 
 

 

Amendments made by Deputy Head of Environmental Services 
 

Risk Owner: Deputy Head of Environmental Services 

PHYSICAL RISK 61 
Risk of injury to the public due to the council’s tree stock being unsafe, diseased or dying. 

Associated Risk Officers: 

Risk Rating 
Likelihood Impact Priority 
Rarely or never happened before Fatality, financial loss in excess of £2,000,000, non-delivery of 

service exceeding 3 weeks and/or adverse international media 
coverage 

Medium 

Controls - Measures Currently in 
Place to Manage  

  

 Continue existing arrangements 

 Maintenance programme 

 Surveys 

 Inspections 

 Designated officer with specific remit for tree inspections. Necessary work is identified and action taken on a 

priority basis subject to available resources. Cemeteries have a tree survey and maintenance programme in 

place. 

 Contracts Contacts for 'out of hours' tree work in place 
 

 
Amendments made by Head of Benefits, Revenues and Customer Contact 
 

Risk Owner: Head of Benefits, Revenues and Customer Contact 
FINANCIAL RISK 5 
Failure to initiate prompt recovery action 

Associated Risk Officers: Revenues Manager 

Risk Rating 
Likelihood Impact Priority 
Rarely or never happened before Minor injury/ill health, financial loss up to £500,000, less than 1 

week service disruption and/or adverse local media coverage 
Low 

Controls - Measures Currently in Place to Manage  

 Clearly documented timetable for collection and recovery processes. 
 Clear documented timetable for direct debit transmissions. 

 System automated reminder based on set parameters 

 Timetable updated annually for billing and recovery process. 

 Annual liaison with local Magistrates Clerk to set and agree timetable for Ctax/NNDR Liability courts  

 Continue to review and monitor debts outstanding and ensure all avenues of recovery are exhausted. 

 Quarterly reports to CMT on collection rates performance. 

 Text reminders issued 4 days prior to payment date and again if payment missed. 

 Targeted proactive contact with customers who fail to pay their Council Tax/Business Rates 

 Monthly meetings with Deputy Chief Executive to track collection rates and income. 

 Review of Revenues structure to consider most effective split of resources for collection and recovery purposes. 

 Increase of proactive measures to aid collection rates in conjunction with the Revenues Team and the Contact 

Centre Team. 

 Annual review of policies that aid the collection and recovery of Council Tax and Business Rates. 

 Annual review of Code of Conduct and SLA agreements between the Council and Enforcement Agents 

Page 19



 

 
 

who act on behalf of the Council in the recovery of Council Tax, Business Rates and Housing Benefit 

Overpayments. 

 

LEGAL RISK 18 
Failure to react to changes in Benefit Legislation 

Associated Risk Officers: Benefits Manager / System Manager 

Risk Rating 
Likelihood Impact Priority 
Rarely or never happened before Serious disabling injury/ill health, financial loss between £500,000 

and £2,000,000, significant disruption to service exceeding 1 week  
and/or adverse national media coverage 

Low 

Controls - Measures Currently in Place to Manage  

 Regular meetings liaison with ICT colleagues to agree planned upgrades to all core systems. 

 Implement all changes in legislation within planned timescale 

 Keep abreast of changes in legislation through circulars, DWP Website and associated legislation 

 Ensure competent workforce by reinforcing training for new and current legislation. 

 Processes built into Business Plan to ensure operational processes are adhered to in this area. 

 Clear understanding of the impact changes in legislation have on customers and the Council and 

update Members and Management Team accordingly. 

 

LEGAL RISK 21 
Failure to meet statutory deadline for issue of Council Tax Bills at year end 

Associated Risk Officers: Revenues Manager 

Risk Rating 
Likelihood Impact Priority 
Rarely or never happened before Serious disabling injury/ill health, financial loss between £500,000 

and £2,000,000, significant disruption to service exceeding 1 week  
and/or adverse national media coverage 

Low 

Controls - Measures Currently in Place to Manage  
 Timetable for software updates issued by CSS. 

 Regular meetings with ICT to agree planned upgrades to all core systems. 

 Implement all changes in legislation within planned timescale. 

 Agree timetable with outside company for printing and delivery of annual Ctax/NNDR bills. 

 Monitor timetable for printing and delivery of daily bills in-house. 

 Timetable updated annually for annual billing process in accordance with statutory legislation. 

 Ensure liaison with preceptors to obtain relevant budget figures for Council Tax setting within relevant 

timescales and in accordance with statutory framework. 

 Liaise with colleagues in Accountancy to ensure financial information is updated on Council website. 

 

Amendments made by Head of Human Resources 
 
Risk Owner: Head of Human Resources 
LEGAL RISK 116 
Risk of claims against the Council for unfair dismissal given the likelihood of staffing reductions through redundancy or 

other employment issues. 

Associated Risk Officers: All Service Managers 

Risk Rating 
Likelihood Impact Priority 
Likely to happen over next 1 to 2 
years  Rarely or never happened 
before 

Minor injury/ill health, financial loss up to £500,000, less than 1 
week service disruption and/or adverse local media coverage 

Low 

Page 20



 

 
 

Controls - Measures Currently in Place to Manage  

 Redundancy Policy in place. 

 Disciplinary, Grievance and Diversity at work policies regularly reviewed. 

 Recruitment and selection policies in place. 

 Close HR support to each service manager during restructures and redundancy processes on employee 

relations matters. 

 All service managers and directors have attended briefings on policy and practice. 

 Training for managers on HR policy areas. 

 Qualified HR staff 

 Access to specialist legal advice when necessary. 

 

LEGAL RISK 52 
Abuse of children or adults at risk by member of staff or volunteer or failure to respond properly to safeguarding 

concerns. 

Associated Risk Officers: All Service Managers 

Risk Rating 
Likelihood Impact Priority 
Rarely or never happened before Serious disabling injury/ill health, financial loss between £500,000 

and £2,000,000, significant disruption to service exceeding 1 week  
and/or adverse national media coverage 

Low 

Controls - Measures Currently in Place to Manage  
 Risk assessment conducted for all posts prior to advertisement to establish whether DBS (Disclosure and 

Barring Service) check required 

 DBS (Disclosure and Barring Service) Checks Performed where relevant 

 Self-assessment audit completed for Lancashire Safeguarding Board each year 

 Contact made with police regarding outcome of Rotherham CSE (Child Sexual Exploitation) 

 Regular training provided for all relevant staff October 2014  

 Safeguarding briefing in place as part of induction and in Newsround 

 HR adopted LADO (Local Authority Designated Officer) guidelines proposed by Lancs Safeguarding  

 Procurement procedures include child and vulnerable adult protection 

 Met with CSE (Child Sexual Exploitation) team at Police in April 2015 to develop better working  

 All taxi drivers receiving training at College involving CSE (Child Sexual Exploitation) issues which is assisted 

by Licensing 

 Safeguarding Policy updated August 2014 

 Relevant service heads asked to get staff to complete level 1 CAF (Common Assessment Framework) training 

online 22.9.08 

 Leisure Trust confirm procedures in place 

 Clause in SLA (Service Level Agreement) with 3rd sector organisations ensuring they comply with legal 

requirements of child protection 

 Training on CSE (e-learning) for relevant staff 
 Designated Safeguarding Officer (and deputy) in place and trained 
 Part of Lancashire DSO network 
 Good links with Lancashire Safeguarding Board 
 List of local contacts kept up to date to ensure concerns raised with most appropriate agency and in 

most effective way 
 

 

 Page 21



 

 
 

LEGAL RISK 26 
Non-delivery of statutory requirements in connection with the Equality Act and age discrimination in respect of building 

compliance 

Associated Risk Officers: Facilities Manager and Head of Human Resources 

Risk Rating 
Likelihood Impact Priority 
Rarely or never happened before Serious disabling injury/ill health, financial loss between £500,000 

and £2,000,000, significant disruption to service exceeding 1 week  
and/or adverse national media coverage 

Low 

Controls - Measures Currently in Place to Manage  

 Continue to monitor and undertake improvements 

 Undertake access audits 

 Identify /allocate funds for improvement 

 Identify officer responsibilities 

 All main Council offices DDA  Equality Act 2010 compliant 

 Single Equality Scheme implemented 

 Undertake EIA of all the Council’s publicly accessible buildings 

  

Page 22



 

 
 

Appendix 4 – Summary Risk Registers 
 

Generic 
 

 

ID Risk Ratings 
with 
controls 

1 There is a risk that personal, sensitive, or bulk information is released into the public 
domain resulting in a likely GDPR fine, and a possible financial loss to the citizen. Causes 
include unauthorised penetration of ICT systems (external hacking);  internal misuse of 
information (internal hacking); careless disposal of waste; loss of equipment/theft of 
equipment; data quality; process adherence; e-mail sent to incorrect recipient. (URN:2024) 

Medium 

2 Failure to insure Council buildings for rebuild value in the event of fire or other incident 
(URN: 2006) 

Medium 

3 Failure to comply with CDM Regulations (URN: 2021) Medium 

4 Failure to ensure health and safety of employees and members of the public and comply 
with Health & Safety Legislation both in, around and outside the workplace. (URN: 2008) 

Medium 

5 Unexpected system failures impacting onto the delivery of services (URN: 2014) Low 

6 Failure to manage projects effectively and ensure contracts are VFM (URN: 2004) Low 

7 Risk of litigation arising from poor advice or work carried out by Officers or non-
compliance with legislation (URN: 2007) 

Low 

8 Financial loss arising from historic claims for industrial injury (URN: 2020) Low 

9 Failure to ensure that personal data is kept securely in accordance with Data Protection 
Act and Freedom of Information Act 2000 (URN: 2017) 

Low 

10 Failing to recruit and retain suitably qualified staff (URN: 2001) Low 

11 Failure to deliver critical services due unavailability  of  a key building  or facilities, lack of 
utilities, ICT failure or high levels of staff absenteeism resulting from infectious disease, flu 
pandemic or other serious incident  (URN: 2013) 

Low 

12 Risk of  poor procurement practice resulting in breach of procurement regulations, 
standing orders or inefficient use of resources. (URN: 45) 

Low 

13 Failure to monitor and ensure spending is within budgetary limitations (URN: 2003) Low 

14 Failure to conserve energy and reduce emissions thus resulting in excess costs to the 
Council and a negative impact on the environment (URN: 2016) 

Low 

15 Failure to adequately protect against IT abuse (e.g. virus infection, hacking, sabotage, 
accessing unsuitable material, unlicensed software, misuse of personal data, breach of 
law, theft, fraud) (URN: 2015) 

Low 

16 Council staff at risk of attack of lone working outside core hours and / or attending out of 
hours call outs (UPN: 2022) 

Low 

17 There is a risk that ICT hardware, e.g. laptops, smart phone or tablet, could be lost or 
stolen, exposing confidential information. (UPN: 2023) 

Low 

Operational 

 
ID Risk Ratings 

with 
controls 

18 

There is a risk that ICT systems and the network could fail due to insufficient 
infrastructure capacity or accidental damage, resulting in the degradation or loss of ICT 
Services on one or more sites. Causes include insufficient bandwidth on network links Medium 

19 
Forward funding of projects. Risk of not drawing down Action Plan allocations due to 
lack of forward funding (URN: 97) Medium 

20 
Errors in Creditor Payment processes resulting in e.g. duplicate payments, non-
payment, overpayment, reduction in credit limits with firms (URN: 2) Medium 

21 
Empty dwellings at risk of vandalism / fire damage presenting a danger to third parties 
(URN: 120) Medium 

22 
Failure to manage and control expenditure within private sector housing capital 
programme (URN: 82) Medium 

Page 23



 

 
 

23 Liability for injury to health caused by asbestos in council owned buildings. (URN: 15) Medium 

24 Loss of local land charges records e.g. fire (URN: 28) Medium 

25 Failure/breakdown of CCTV system (URN: 102) Medium 

26 Inadequate Treasury Management Arrangements (URN: 7) Medium 

27 
Risk of injury to the public due to the headstones and other memorials in the Borough’s 
cemeteries being in an unsafe condition (URN: 125) Medium 

28 Theft of works of art. (URN: 50) Medium 

29 
Risk of injury to the public due to the council’s tree stock being unsafe, diseased or 
dying. (URN: 61) Medium 

30 Risk of flooding from watercourses as a result of lack of maintenance (URN: 58) Medium 

31 
Risks due to inadequate maintenance of car parks, bus shelters, HBC highways and 
lighting including Christmas Lights (URN: 59) Medium 

32 

Failure to comply with external funding regimes and programmes, notional loss and/or 
recovery of significant regeneration funding depending on specific arrangements. (URN: 
81) Medium 

33 
Failure to protect customer’s personal banking information when making payments over 
the internet (URN: 41) Low 

34 Failure to maintain the Council’s non-housing assets due to lack of funding. (URN: 37) Low 

35 Failure to secure the development of the Clayton Triangle (URN: 92) Low 

36 
Adequately controlling temperatures of the Council’s operational buildings to provide 
suitable working conditions for staff and prevent disruption to services (URN: 114) Low 

37 
Non-delivery of statutory requirements in connection with the Equality Act and age 
discrimination in respect of building compliance (URN: 26) Low 

38 
HMR Programme residual CPO and Contractual Liabilities exceeding anticipated 
available funding (URN: 117) Low 

39 
ICT systems failure affecting service provision due to loss of Academy / Anite / Paris 
(URN: 39) Low 

40 Market Hall loss of income due to low take up of market hall stalls (URN: 122) Low 

41 Failure to follow election procedures (URN: 19) Low 

42 
Errors in implementing CPO procedures relating to HMR programme or risk of 
successful challenge to CPO proposals at public enquiry (URN: 25) Low 

43 Failure to meet necessary legal requirements leading to claims being made (URN: 20) Low 

44 
Risk of injury to the public, especially children and young people, due to the council’s 
play areas and young people’s facilities being in an unsafe condition.  (URN: 62) Low 

45 
Impact on residents arising from flash flooding, sewer surcharge, infrastructure damage, 
rehousing, power outages etc as a result of adverse / extreme weather (URN: 113) Low 

46 Breakdown of equipment or vehicles (URN: 72) Low 

47 Ignition of flammable liquids in vehicle workshop (URN: 56) Low 

48 Cost implications of introducing Selective Landlord Licensing (URN: 121) Low 

49 Failure to meet statutory deadline for issue of Council Tax Bills at year end (URN: 21) Low 

50 Suspension of the Council’s vehicle operator's licence (URN: 53) Low 

51 Loss of planning application and permission records through fire or flood (URN: 65) Low 

52 Failure to generate forecast income from the Council’s investment property (URN: 11) Low 

53 

Failure to produce final accounts on time to appropriate legal & professional standards 
e.g. current Accounts & Audit Regulations, IFRS (International Financial Reporting 
Standards) (URN: 23) Low 

54 
Liability for costs on appeal against unreasonable refusal of planning application (URN: 
55) Low 

55 Errors in Debtors Administration e.g. Incorrect posting of payments (URN: 3) Low 

56 Errors in Cashiering i.e. posting monies to the wrong account (URN: 4) Low 

57 Failure to react to changes in Benefit Legislation (URN: 18) Low 

58 Risk of assault whilst collecting, counting and banking Market Rents (URN: 36) Low 

59 

There is a risk that ICT Systems may fail and affect front line services e.g. Academy, 
Paris, Microsoft Dynamics, resulting in council staff being unable to carry out their 
normal working activities impacting on the quality of service delivered to the cit Low 

60 

There is a risk that a computer virus / malware could infect the HBC network due to a 
failure of protection mechanisms to identify and treat a virus, and the failure of Council 
staff to observer ICT policies and recommended working practices. (URN: 130) Low 

61 
Abuse of children or adults at risk by member of staff or volunteer or failure to respond 
properly to safeguarding concerns (URN: 52) Low 

Page 24



 

 
 

62 
Risk of claims arising from owners of houses following contracts for group repairs and 
home improvements supervised by Regeneration and Development Team (URN: 68) Low 

63 
Failure to complete audit plan and associated work to give sufficient assurance to 
External Audit in their Final Accounts Audit (URN: 1) Low 

64 
Pollution or adverse effect on public health due to failure of refuse collection service 
(URN: 78) Low 

65 

Drivers not holding a valid driver’s licence / the appropriate licence category / vocational 
licence (Driver CPC) and not carrying Driver CPC card with them when driving. (URN: 
129) Low 

66 
Theft of Mayoral Chains and car whilst attending official mayoral engagement with 
associated risk of assault on mayoral party. (URN: 127) Low 

67 
Failure to manage cremator operations in accordance with authorisation leading to 
excessive emissions (URN: 74) Low 

68 Failure to initiate prompt recovery action (URN: 5) Low 

69 
Failure to meet contractual obligations under vehicle service level and contract hire 
agreements (URN: 67) Low 

70 
Service or business needs not met due to failure of IT system, failure of network 
services or other reason (URN: 40) Low 

71 Risk of Damage to the Tiffany glass and paintings whilst moving/cleaning. (URN: 49) Low 

72 Gallery and Market staff at risk of attack on attending out of hours call outs (URN: 64) Low 

73 Unacceptable vehicle emissions (URN: 76) Low 

74 Theft or damage to vehicles and equipment (URN: 60) Low 

75 
Pollution of canal or local environment resulting in suspension of waste transfer at 
CVMU/Willows Lane (URN: 77) Low 

76 
Failure to achieve and statutory housing responsibilities in terms of homelessness and 
housing need (URN: 98) Low 

77 Failure to complete statutory returns e.g. VAT (URN: 6) Low 

78 Loss of title deeds or contract documents e.g. fire (URN: 119) Low 

79 
Failure to complete Woodnook regeneration project leaving the council with property 
ownership liabilities for up to 60 empty dwellings (URN: 128) Low 

80 
Risk of claims against the Council for unfair dismissal or other employment issues. 
(URN: 116) Low 

 
Strategic 

 
81 Substantial reduction in grant from Government (URN: 1027) Medium 

82 
Loss of considerable amount of cash due to deposits within banking sector that are 
subject to major turbulence. (URN: 1025) Medium 

83 
Warranted environmental / asbestos problems in land / properties following the 2006 
LSVT (URN: 1018) Medium 

84 Failure to ensure Financial Integrity (URN: 1004) Medium 

85 
Failure to address unacceptable exposure from Strategic Partnerships & Joint Working 
(URN: 1006) Low 

86 Failure to follow correct procurement process (URN: 1015) Low 

87 
Failure to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and vulnerable adults (URN: 
1023) Low 

88 
Failure to address citizens needs in the event of a major incident, including civil 
disobedience, affecting residents or infrastructure of the Borough. (URN: 1022) Low 

89 
Failure to uphold high ethical standards of conduct and consequent reputational 
damage to the Council (URN: 1001) Low 

90 

That the Councils leisure service provider Leisure in Hyndburn cease trading (resulting 
in the Council becoming responsible for some of their liabilities, eg. Pension deficit) or 
that they fail to repay debts to the Council. (URN: 1030) Low 

91 
Loss of income from unpaid invoices more than 6 months old impacting on General 
Fund revenue Balances. (URN: 1029) Low 

92 Failure to deliver objectives set out in the Corporate Strategy (URN: 1026) Low 

93 

Financial liability arising from legal claim by Rossendale BC to recover losses incurred 
on Pennine Lancashire Empty Homes Programme as a result of Rossendale BCs sub-
contractor, AAAW, going in to administration. (URN: 1032) Low 

94 

Risk of Council acting unlawfully and failure to meet requirements of new and amended 
legislation (New legislation imposing significant new burdens will be dealt with as a 
separate risk if appropriate) (URN: 1014) Low 

Page 25



 

 
 

Appendix 5 – Partnership Register 

PARTNERSHIP STATUS 

LEAD OFFICER - David Welsby 

Globe Enterprises Ltd. Current – established in 1995 in conjunction with Barnfield Contractors 
(UK) Ltd and two private sector partners with equal share holdings 

Barnfield & Hyndburn Ltd. Current – established in 1995 with 70% Barnfield Contractors (UK) Ltd 
share and 30% Hyndburn Borough Council 

Barnfield & Hyndburn 
Partnership 

Current – A partnership governed by the Partnership Act 1890 with 
Barnfield Contractors (UK) Ltd having a 70% share and Hyndburn 
Borough Council having 30% share. 

Growth Lancashire Current – a Local Authority owned company providing a shared 
economic development function between across Lancashire.  

LEAD OFFICER – Joe McIntyre 

Hyndburn Leisure Trust  
(This also includes Bank Mill 
House) 

Current – Provision of leisure services. Has enabled the council to 
significantly reduce the cost of leisure of provision in the borough whilst 
maintaining service levels. It has been agreed that the grant to the 
Leisure Trust will further reduce over the next few years and will 
eventually stop being paid when the Leisure Trust are financially self-
sufficient. 

Hyndburn Arts Trust Current – established in 2010. Hyndburn Arts Trust was formed to 
operate the Oswaldtwistle Civic Theatre and provide a programme of 
arts and culture. The Arts Trust business plan aims to make the 
operation self-sufficient which over time will enable the council to 
reduce the level of grant paid to the trust. 

LEAD HBC OFFICER - Jane Ellis 

Land Charges Current – this is a contractual agreement for the shared service in 
respect of Land Charges between Hyndburn Borough Council and 
Pendle Borough Council. This has helped reduce the cost of the Land 
Charges Service. 

LEAD HBC OFFICER - Steve Riley 

Grounds Maintenance SLA  Current – this is an SLA with LCC covering weed control, leaf sweeping, 
highway verge shrub, tree and hedge maintenance – Agreement in 
place up until end 2016. The agreement is expected to generate 
£47,000 of income in 2016/17.  

Lancashire Waste 
Partnership 

Current – this is a long standing partnership formed in 2001 with District 
and County authorities within Lancashire - This partnership is up for 
review in March 2018 

Emergency Planning Partnership that shares best practice and resources in respect of 
emergency planning. 

LEAD HBC OFFICER - Mike Walker 

Community Safety 
Partnership 

Ongoing – involves statutory partners (Lancashire Constabulary, 
National Probation Service, Lancs and Cumbria Community 
Rehabilitation Company, NHS East Lancs CCG, LCC and Lancs Fire 
and Rescue Service) and non-statutory partners (HARV, Hyndburn 
Leisure, Older People’s Forum, YNOT etc) 

Page 26



 

 
 

PARTNERSHIP STATUS 

Hyndburn, Ribble Valley and 
Rossendale Children’s 
Partnership Board 

Previously the Hyndburn Children’s Trust which has been restructured 
to cover the boroughs of Hyndburn, Ribble Valley and Rossendale. In 
addition to the 3 district councils partners include LCC, Lancashire 
Constabulary, National Probation Service, Lancs Care Foundation 
Trust, Reps from local Schools and Nurseries etc 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
LEAD HBC OFFICER – Ian Marfleet 

Hyndburn Community & 
Voluntary Resource Centre, 
Accrington 

2004 
Hyndburn Community and Voluntary Resource Ltd 
Third sector Enterprise Centre 
Former Church school.  Refurbished with European and National 
Funding.  The building offers office space aimed at third sector 
organisations and some event/workshop space.  The lease was 
renewed in 2015. 

Mercer House, Clayton le 
Moors 

2011 
Mercer 1842 Ltd 
Unused Grade II listed building.  Now managed by a local community 
organisation who host a range of events, meetings, workshops and 
similar.  Office space for local community organisations also included. 
Community Centre 

Arthur Wilson Centre, Great 
Harwood 

2014 
Mercer 1842 Ltd 
Former community building run for and by local elderly residents.  The 
building was largely unused.  The rooms are now fully used by a wide 
variety if users. 
Community Centre 

Churchfield House, Great 
Harwood 

2015 
Churchfield House Ltd 
Unused Grade II listed building.  Now managed by a local community 
organisation who host a range of events, meetings, workshops and 
similar.  Office space is also proposed, but not yet included. 
Community Centre 

The Civic, Oswaldtwistle 2015 
Hyndburn Arts Ltd 
Community theatre previously run by the Council.  Leased to a local 
community to improve the offer and increase the audience numbers. 
Community Theatre 

Elmfield Hall, Accrington 2015 
Community Solutions North West Ltd 
Underused community building.  Lease and heavily restored by CSNW 
as their headquarters.  The building also incorporates community 
meeting space. 
Headquarters for CSNW 

Hippings Vale, Oswaldtwistle 2016 
Hyndburn Arts Ltd 
Underused community building.  Leased to HAL with the aim of 
increasing the range of use and number of users. 
Community Centre 

LEAD HBC OFFICER – Lee Taylor 

Page 27



 

 
 

PARTNERSHIP STATUS 

Pest Control Current – SLA with Burnley now formalised and informal agreement 
with Rossendale to provide service 2 days per week. Pest control 
services are is also a rolling agreement with LCC to provide on an ad 
hoc basis. These agreements generated approximately £50,000 of 
income in 2015/16. 

LEAD HBC OFFICER – Helen Dodds 

Night Time Nuisance Current – a shared service with four neighbouring authorities which was 
formed in 2005. The partnership enables costs of staffing to be reduced 
because the service is a staffed on a rota basis across each of the 
councils. 

LEAD HBC OFFICER – Cameron Smith 

Hyndburn Homewise Allow Hyndburn Homewise to use a stall in Accrington Market to display 
mobility aids etc. 

Veterans Association UK Provide VAUK with a unit on the balcony of Accrington Market at 
peppercorn rent to provide a veterans drop in advice service – 
agreement will be reviewed 

Hyndburn Heritage Museum Provide the Museum to use a stall in Accrington Market at peppercorn 
rent to display museum items and promote the main museum site. 

LEAD HBC OFFICER - Mark Hoyle 

Pennine Lancashire Museum 
Consortium 

Current – this is a collaboration of five member authorities with Burnley 
Borough Council being the accountable body for monies received from 
the Arts Council England. The partners share best practice, prepare 
joint funding bids and produce combined marketing materials. 

Shared CCTV Current – this is a shared service between Hyndburn Borough Council 
and  Blackburn with Darwen Council that has reduced cost of service 
delivery. Preston, Burnley and Pendle Councils will be joining the 
partnership in the coming months which will provide further reductions 
in cost due to economies of scale. 

LEAD HBC OFFICER – Claire Beattie 

Internet Provision Current – This is a contractual agreement for the provision of internet 
bandwidth from Lancashire County Council that provided cost savings. 

LEAD HBC OFFICER – Craig Haraben 

Dog Kennelling Contract Current – Contract between HBC, Ribble Valley Borough Council, 
Pendle Borough Council and Rossendale Borough Council. 

Hyndburn Green Spaces 
Forum 

Reg Charity, collective voice for open space 
Green Space partner 

Friends of Rhyddings Park Reg Charity, collective voice for residents 
Green space voice for Oswaldtwistle 

Friends of Memorial Park collective voice for residents 
Memorial Park users group 

Friends of Mercer Park collective voice for residents 
Mercer Park  user group 

Huncoat Community Forum collective voice for residents 
Active residents of Huncoat 

Friends of Peel Park & Arden 
Hall 

collective voice for residents 
Peel Park & Arden Hall User group 

Friends of Milnshaw Park collective voice for residents 
Milnshaw Park supporters group 

Rishton Prospects Panel collective voice for residents 
Cutwood park and Rishton residents 

Baxenden Community Forum collective voice for residents 
Haworth Park and Baxenden Residents 

Bullough Park Residents 
Association 

collective voice for residents 
Bullough Park Users group 

Prospects Foundation Biodiversity champions reg charity 

 
Page 28



 

 
 

Partnerships that under development 
 

LEAD HBC OFFICER – Ian Marfleet 

Clayton Civic Centre, Clayton 
le Moors 

Mercer 1842 Ltd 
Library, Children’s Centre, Community Centre.  Complex and 
challenging building management issues, the Council is seeking to 
resolve these by bringing in Mercer 1842. 
Community Centre 

 
 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: Audit Committee 

DATE: 19 November 2018 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Mark Beard – Head of Audit & Investigations 

TITLE OF REPORT: AUDIT REPORTS & KEY ISSUES – PROGRESS 
REPORT FOR THE PERIOD JULY – OCTOBER 
2018 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

Options Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: Options If yes, date of publication: n/a 

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To inform members of the Audit Reports issued during the period July – October 2018 

and bring to the attention of the Committee what the key issues were. 
 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 I recommend that Audit Committee: 

 notes the content of this report for informational purposes. 
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 This report covers the period August to October 2018 with the audit areas and any key 

issues detailed at Appendix 1. 
 
3.2 Members should be aware that the number of audit reports that are issued each 

quarter is subject to variation dependent on the size of the audit and any non-routine 
audit work, such as investigations, that the Team may be involved in. Therefore, for the 
purpose of the quarterly reporting, only the audit reports fully completed, issued and 
agreed will be included. 

 
3.3 Any investigations that may be carried out will not be included as a matter of routine in 

this report, particularly if they relate to a specific individual or individuals. 
 
3.4 There is a target of 98% of the audit plan to be completed by the end of the current 

financial year in terms of audit days completed. As the audit team complete timesheets 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4.



which then feed into the audit plan, it is possible to state the progress to date and the 
projected end of year position if that date is extrapolated out. Therefore:- 

  Position as at end of October 2018 = 54.58% of the plan completed 
  Projected out-turn position for 2018/19 = 93.56% of the plan completed 
 
3.5 The position at the end of October 2018 can be broken down as follows:- 
 

Month % of the Plan Completed that Month 

April 2018 7.74% 

May 2018 8.52% 

June 2018 6.38% 

July 2018 7.11% 

August 2018 9.50% 

September 2018 6.66% 

October 2018 8.67% 

 
3.6 The projected out-turn position for the year is based on the 7 month period April 2018 

to October 2018 and assumes that the output remains at a constant for the remainder 
of 2018/19. However with 5 months still to run it is unlikely that the projected out-turn 
figure will be the actual figure at the end of the financial year.  

 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Not applicable as the report is for informational purposes only 
 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 No consultations required as this report is based on data and information held by the 

audit team based on the work completed 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

There are no financial implications arising 
from this report 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

There are legal or human rights implications 
arising from this report. 

Assessment of risk 
 

Risks are taken into consideration during the 
audit process itself, there is no direct risk 
implication from this report. 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 

This report is produced for information 
awareness of the progress of the Audit Team 
against the annual Internal Audit Plan. The 

Page 32

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

Audit Planning process has had an equality 
impact assessment which remains valid and it 
is not necessary to update this with a 
Customer First Analysis at this time. The 
individual audit assignments may, in some 
cases, feed into the needs of equality and 
diversity issues within individual service areas 
of the Council 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 No background papers were necessary for the preparation of this report.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



APPENDIX 1 
 
AUDIT COMMITTEE – 19th November 2018 
 
Summary of the main issues arising from audits carried out 
July – October 2018 
 
 
Debtors:- 
 
Audit Assurance Opinion Issued:- Substantial assurance 
The work undertaken showed there is generally a sound system of internal control designed 
to meet service objectives, and controls are generally being applied consistently. However, 
some weaknesses in the design and / or inconsistent application of controls put the 
achievement of particular objectives at risk. 
 
 It was agreed with Management that aged debt reports would be reintroduced and 

circulated to all service areas providing them with the necessary information to pursue 
debts and if necessary suspend delivery of services which are unpaid. 
 

 The audit highlighted that it was not always clear where the separation of duties lies 
with regards to verifying and signing credit notes. Management has looked at this and 
re-clarified this going forwards to demonstrate this more clearly. 
 

 The audit highlighted the need to ensure that there was sufficient VAT coding rates 
available to all services raising debts on the system. This would also tie into the 
introduction of “Making Tax Digital” initiative. Management has set up new VAT codes 
where necessary. 
 

 The audit highlighted that former tenant arrears which had been mentioned in an audit 
in 2014 were still showing within the General Ledger. Management has agreed to 
review and write off where applicable. 
 

  
Planning Fees:- 
 
Audit Assurance Opinion Issued:- Comprehensive assurance 
The work undertaken showed a sound system of internal control which is designed to meet 
the service objectives, in addition the work carried out showed controls are consistently being 
applied. 
 
 No issues arising. 
 
 
Software Maintenance Contracts:- 
 
Audit Assurance Opinion Issued:- Substantial assurance 
The work undertaken showed there is generally a sound system of internal control designed 
to meet service objectives, and controls are generally being applied consistently. However, 

Page 34



some weaknesses in the design and / or inconsistent application of controls put the 
achievement of particular objectives at risk. 
 
 The audit was unable to ascertain if the necessary contracts are in place in relation to 

software used by Planning & Transportation as the Head of Service did not reply to the 
initial request or reminders sent by the Auditor during the audit. Therefore, the Head of 
Service is asked to ensure that the necessary contracts are in place and signed 
accordingly if they are not already in place. 
 

 The audit suggested to Management that the data gathered by the audit and held by 
various heads of service could be recorded centrally by ICT. This does not defer 
responsibility from individual Service Areas but would mean that a master copy of all 
such contracts is in one place. 
 

 The audit found that the Fleet Master Contract is re-examined as it is signed by an ex-
employee of the Council. This check will ascertain if it is necessary to re-sign with an 
existing employee of the Council. 

 
 
Capital Programme:- 
 
Audit Assurance Opinion Issued:- Substantial assurance 
The work undertaken showed there is generally a sound system of internal control designed 
to meet service objectives, and controls are generally being applied consistently. However, 
some weaknesses in the design and / or inconsistent application of controls put the 
achievement of particular objectives at risk. 
 
 The audit found that schemes which are delayed due to external funding problems 

were not always discussed promptly which meant they could be rolled forward for more 
than one financial year keeping funds locked in for that scheme. It was agreed with 
Management that such slippage and the cause will be discussed at the Capital 
Programme Working Group and a decision taken whether the scheme will take place 
as if the cause of delay is not correctable then the approved capital funds can be re-
allocated to other schemes. 
 

 The audit found that care must be taken to ensure that the correct number of quotes is 
obtained for expenditure below £10k and that this is retained on the evidence file. 
Management agreed to remind all Officers involved with the Capital Programme to 
ensure that this is done. 
 

 
Waste Collection & Recycling:- 
 
Audit Assurance Opinion Issued:- Comprehensive assurance 
The work undertaken showed a sound system of internal control which is designed to meet 
the service objectives, in addition the work carried out showed controls are consistently being 
applied. 
 
 No issues arising. 

Page 35



 
External Body Nominations:- 
 
It was reported to Audit Committee in July 2018 that an audit was carried out and completed 
in 2017/18 financial year with the draft report issued to management on 2nd February 2018. 
 
The Senior Auditor had spoken and emailed Management to progress this report so that it 
can be finalised but had been unable to do so as Management have stated other issues have 
greater importance. 
 
At the July Audit Committee it was agreed that a deadline should be placed on Management 
to progress this report and that failure to do so would result in the Audit Committee requesting 
the presence of the relevant Officer to answer to the next Audit Committee. 
 
The Head of Audit & Investigations can report that Management has formally accepted the 3 
recommendations and the report has now been issued as a final version. 
 
Audit Assurance Opinion Issued:- Substantial assurance 
The work undertaken showed there is generally a sound system of internal control designed 
to meet service objectives, and controls are generally being applied consistently. However, 
some weaknesses in the design and / or inconsistent application of controls put the 
achievement of particular objectives at risk. 
 
 Management will seek further information from External Bodies in relation to the 

appointed representatives. The audit found some representatives had not been 
requested to attend any meetings. The additional information may help in determining if 
such representation is actually required. 
 

 The audit recommended that Councillors and/or Officers appointed to external 
organisations needed to have a clear understanding of the legal status of the 
organisation, insurance cover implications as well as risks and liabilities. Management 
agreed to work with external organisations to clarify these issues. 
 

 It was agreed with Management that training should be provided to all Councillors 
and/or Officers that are appointed to External Bodies to give them clarity on their 
responsibilities and the nature of the Body appointed to.  

 

Page 36



REPORT TO: Audit Committee 

DATE: 19 November 2018 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Mark Beard – Head of Audit & Investigations 

TITLE OF REPORT: AUDIT FOLLOW-UPS REPORT FOR THE PERIOD 
AUGUST 2018 – OCTOBER 2018 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

Options Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: Options If yes, date of publication: n/a 

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To inform members of the outcome of routine follow-ups following the previously 

agreed action plans for completed Audit Reports. The follow-ups detailed within this 
report are those carried out during the period August – October 2018. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 I recommend that Audit Committee: 

 notes the content of this report for informational purposes. 
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 This report covers the period August – October 2018 with details of the follow-ups 

carried out shown at Appendix 1. 
 
3.2 Following the agreement of the recommendations between Management and Internal 

Audit following the completion of the audit assignment, the area is revisited by Internal 
Audit and the recommendations are reviewed to ensure they have been implemented 
as agreed. This process is known as the ‘Follow-Up’. 

 
3.3 Internal Audit assesses the current position to what was agreed at the end of the audit. 

Where no action has been taken by the Service Area, then Internal Audit will question 
why and issue a revised Action Plan. Part of the control within this process is 
consideration by Audit Committee of any issues that arise. The Committee has the 
ability to ask questions of Management in the relative service areas why they have not 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5.



acted upon the agreed Action Plan. The Committee can also express what its 
expectations would be with regard to such a problem occurring. 

 
3.4 Internal Audit aim to carry out a Follow Up for each completed audit area within 6 

months of completion. However there are a number of exceptions to that aim:- 
i.) Follow-Up in 6 months would be pointless if the recommendations are 

low enough priority to allow a longer time frame. 
ii.) Work of the Audit Team does not allow the Follow-Up to be carried out. 

Although Follow Ups are an important part of the process the Head of 
Audit & Investigations must always weigh this against the need for 
achieving the Audit Plan and auditing the risks the Council faces. 

iii.) There were no recommendations arising from the original audit. 
 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Not applicable as the report is for informational purposes only 
 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 No consultations required as this report is based on data and information held by the 

audit team based on the work completed 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

There are no financial implications arising 
from this report 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

There are legal or human rights implications 
arising from this report. 

Assessment of risk 
 

Risks are taken into consideration during the 
audit process itself, there is no direct risk 
implication from this report. 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

 
This report is produced for information 
awareness of the progress of the Audit Team 
in terms of following up on actions previously 
agreed for implementation at the end of an 
audit assignment. Whilst individual actions 
may occasionally have equality or diversity 
requirements, this report does not as it is 
presenting facts from other sources. 

 
 

Page 38

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 
List of Background Papers  

 
7.1 No background papers were necessary for the preparation of this report.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



APPENDIX 1 
 
AUDIT COMMITTEE – 19th November 2018 
 
Follow-Ups     August - October 2018 
 
Follow-Ups Carried Out 
 
The following Follow-Ups were carried out during the period August 2018 to October 2018:- 
 

 Car Allowances 
 Training Budgets incorp. PDR Process  
 Disabled Facility Grants 
 Civic Regalia  
 Creditors 

 
Issues arising from follow-up 
 

 The table below shows an analysis of the results of the above Follow-Up work having 
taken place:- 

 

Audit Area No. of Actions 
Agreed as 
Reported 

No. of Actions Agreed 
Implemented 

Comments 

Car 
Allowances 

6 6 Implemented 
 

1.The review of the Car 
Allowance guidance and the 
Learning & Development Policy is 
ongoing and has been allowed a 
revised target date for completion 
of March 2019. 
2. All mileage claim forms are 
checked for accuracy prior to 
Management authorisation, 
ensuring the Payroll Team can 
rely upon the information 
submitted by employees. 
3. Clarification has been provided 
to the Payroll Manager & Internal 
Audit for the claims made in 
respect of the Night Time Noise 
Service.  
4. Consideration has been given 
to future savings which may be 
required in respect of car 
allowances budgets, however it 
was felt by management that the 
savings have not been required.   
5. Consideration has been given 
to the potential risk of lease car 

Page 40



expenditure should further eligible 
staff apply to the scheme. 
6. Internal Audit staff have now 
been included in the annual 
vehicle/insurance documentation 
checks, as per the Driver Policy.   

Training 
Budgets 
incorp. PDR 
Process 

1 1 Implemented The introduction of feedback 
forms was recommended after 
staff have attended training. 
Consideration has been given - it 
was felt that due to the time 
involved and any potential benefit 
given, this information may not 
reflect a true view of the trainer. 
Feedback is part of the PDR 
process and it was decided not to 
introduce this form.  

Disabled 
Facility Grants 

1 1 Implemented 
 

In certain individual 
circumstances, in the event of a 
property being sold which has 
received Disabled Facility Grant 
funding, some recovery of the 
grant may be applicable. A 
section has been included on the 
DFG guidance form to inform 
applicants of the potential 
recovery of grant monies paid 
and the associated time periods.  

Civic Regalia 5 4 Implemented 
1 NOT Implemented 

1. Consideration has been given 
to disposing of some regalia but 
this has not taken place, it will 
remain an option for future. 
2. The current inventory has been 
revised and the missing items are 
now recorded separately. Future 
valuations will be based on the 
revised list. 
3. Consideration has been given 
to displaying items but this has 
not been progressed. 
4. Each item on the inventory has 
been revised to include the 
valuation number, a photograph 
and the location of the item. 
5. Items that require valuation are 
recorded on a separate list. 

Creditors 1 1 Implemented The Council’s Financial 
procedure Rules have been 

Page 41



placed on the Hyntranet to 
provide staff with access to the 
rules. 

 
 

Page 42



 

 

 

REPORT TO: Audit Committee 

DATE: 19 November 2018 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Miles Parkinson, Leader 

REPORT AUTHOR: Joe McIntyre 

Deputy Chief Executive 

TITLE OF REPORT: Local Government Association  

Independent Financial Peer Review Report 2018 

 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 

1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1. The reports informs the Audit Committee of the outcome of the Local Government 

Association Independent Financial Peer Review, which was undertaken over the 
Summer of 2018. 

 

2. Recommendations  
 
2.1. The Audit Committee notes the report. 

3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 

Summary  
 

3.1. The Council took part in a Local Government Peer Review over the Summer of 2018. 
 
3.2. The report from the Local Government Association is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
 

 
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6.



 

 

3.3. The key findings from the report are  
 

o The Council has a strong culture of cost control and has effectively managed 
significant financial challenges in the past.  It has a culture of good financial 
management and the organisation has a good understanding of its overall 
financial position.  Reserves are strong compared to other similar local 
authorities and this should assist with the financial challenges that may stem 
from the Government’s Fair Funding Review. 

 
o The Review recommends the Council should concentrate on delivering its key 

objectives around growth in housing and businesses as this will provide 
additional revenues to the Council which will assist it in managing its overall 
financial challenge.  The Council will benefit from linking its Corporate Strategy 
to its Medium Term Financial Plan and the better use of performance indicators.   
There is scope to raise additional tax revenue locally by improving collection 
rates and increasing council tax.  It should also be possible for the Council to 
improve its unit costs position going forward and there are options around 
capital investment and lowering borrowing costs still further which might also 
assist it to deal with the substantial reduction in funding that it may face in 
2020/2021 and beyond. 

 
 
Detail 

 
 
3.4. The Local Government Association introduced a Peer Challenge process in 2011 and 

invited all Councils in England to participate.  Around one third of Councils have made 
use of the offer which is free to all Councils who participate. 

 
3.5. The Peer Review can be a full review of the whole Council or the review can be 

focused on a key aspect of the Council’s operation. 
 

 
3.6. Given the financial challenges all Councils are currently facing from the dramatic 

reduction in Government funding and that Hyndburn Council has suffered some of the 
largest Government funding reductions in local government and experts to see further 
significant reductions over the next few years, coupled with the Council not attempting 
to raise council tax significantly to counter the loss of Government funding, it was 
thought that the Council would most benefit from a Peer Review which looked at the 
Council’s financial sustainability. 

 
3.7. The Review is conducted independent of the Council by a person or team appointed 

by the Local Government Association and consists of recognised experts in the areas 
to be examined.  The Review aims to provide an independent assessment of the 
Council’s current financial position and future budget challenges.  It uses comparative 
data from Councils statistically similar to Hyndburn Council and aims to provide a 
report which brings fresh ideas and challenges to the Council in a spirit of 
constructive challenge. 

 

Page 44



 

 

3.8. The Review recognises that the Council has a long history of effectively dealing with 
financial challenges and has a strong culture of effective cost control to protect the 
public purse.  The Council’s overall financial positon is well understood internally and 
it has a good Medium Term Financial Strategy including appropriate sensitivity 
analysis around its forecasts.   Reserves are recognised as being strong having been 
built up over a long period since 2003/4 when they were at zero and this will help the 
Council over the next few years as it deals with any changes from the Fair Funding 
Review which is due to be announced in Autumn 2019.  The Council has a strong 
track record on producing and delivering savings and has successfully reduced its 
debt portfolio and the accompanying interest costs associated with loan financing and 
has debt levels well below the average of its statistically significant neighbours. 

 
3.9. The Review indicates that the Council still has potential scope to reduce its unit cost 

of operating going forward and that there is scope to increase both Council Tax and 
Business Rate Revenue from increases in collection rates and raising council tax 
locally after a long period of low or nil rises.  The Review recommends the Council 
concentrate on delivering its key objectives around housing and business growth as 
the delivery of these, will also boost its overall financial position by providing 
additional tax revenues.  It also suggests the Council works to ensure it strengthens 
the link between its new Corporate Plan and its Medium Term Financial Strategy, 
examines the scope to use available capital receipts or borrowing to help it deliver 
more Revenue Budget Savings via capital investment and using newly granted 
powers to use capital receipts for invest to save revenue expenditure proposals.  The 
Review also suggests examining the scope to reduce the cost of capital financing 
from the flexibility around the calculation of the Minimum Revenue Provision. 

 

4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 

4.1. Not applicable.  This report is for information purposes. 

5. Consultations 
 
5.1. Not applicable  

6.  Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

Not applicable the report is for information 
purposes only. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

Not applicable the report is for information 
purposes only. 

Assessment of risk 
 

Not applicable the report is for information 
purposes only. 

Page 45



 

 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

Not applicable the report is for information 
purposes only. 

 
 

7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985:List of Background 
Papers  

 
None 
 

  

Page 46

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


 

 

Appendix 1 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
LGA Independent Financial Peer Review 
 
 
 
Helen Seechurn 
Financial Improvement and Sustainability Adviser 
August 2018 

Final    
  

Page 47



 

 

 
1 Introduction 

 

1.1 Hyndburn Borough Council has requested that the LGA undertake an independent 

financial peer review. The LGA’s role is to act as “critical friend” to the Council and to 

provide an independent assessment of its current financial position and future budget 

challenges.  

 

1.2 The agreed Terms of Reference are attached at Appendix 1. In essence, this review was 

tasked to provide a contextual appraisal of the Council’s financial standing compared to 

its statistical neighbours and to offer suggestions in the way in which budget setting may 

be improved. 

 

1.3 This review has been carried out under the auspices of the Sector Led Improvement 

programme, which is run by the LGA and is open to all principal local authorities in 

England. Crucially, it is not an inspection and the objective being to provide an 

independent review that brings fresh ideas in a spirit of constructive challenge. 

 

1.4 The LGA has made every effort to ensure the information is accurate. However, it makes 

no representation the contents of the analysis are accurate and is not responsible for 

any errors, omissions or out of date information. The LGA accepts no responsibility if 

any person or organisation incurs claims or liabilities or suffers loss of damage because 

they relied on anything in this report. 

 
2 Hyndburn Borough Council 

 

2.1 Hyndburn is one of 14 district and unitary councils in Lancashire. It covers 73 square 

kilometres between Burnley and Blackburn. There are over 80,000 residents with an 

ethnic minority community of just over 12.3%. The borough is a mix of urban and rural 

areas with Accrington being the administrative centre.  

 

2.2 The economic base of Hyndburn was founded on textiles, engineering and extractive 

industries. Today, manufacturing is still one of the area’s largest employers with 18% of 

the workforce.  

 

2.3 Hyndburn has 16 wards and the Council consists of 35 councillors, which following the 

local elections May 2018, comprises 26 Labour and 9 Conservative members. The 

Council has adopted the Leader and Cabinet model as its political management 

structure. The Leader, Miles Parkinson, chairs a 6 member Cabinet with Joyce Plummer, 

a long serving councillor, the Finance portfolio holder since May 2018. 

 

2.4 The Council has been under Labour control since 2011 and since taking control, the 

administration has focussed on maintaining cost control, strengthening reserves and 

reducing financing costs wherever possible. The Council’s approach to managing its 

finances follows a period of financial turbulence around 2002-2004 which saw reserves 

Page 48



 

 

virtually eliminated and the Council on course for record debt levels by 2007 of £27.5m. 

For 2018/19, the approved net revenue budget is £11.2m; capital programme of nearly 

£5m; and, capital financing requirement of £9.5m.  

 

3 Summary  

 

3.1 The Council recognises itself as being financially prudent coming from a place of having 

faced major financial challenges historically and foreseeing new challenges ahead as 

the Council moves, in line with national policy, to financial self-sufficiency. The Council is 

anticipating the loss of £2m Revenue Support Grant by 2020/21.  

 

3.2 A refresh of the corporate plan is currently being undertaken which sets out the key 

strategic priorities to 2023. 

 

3.3 Hyndburn is disproportionately dependent on Revenue Support Grant and the Council 

has the lowest council tax base and business rates base of the “top ten” statistical 

nearest neighbours. The Council recognises its corporate objectives as being the 

delivery of housing growth with greater choice for residents; and, investment for growth 

by offering opportunities for businesses to thrive in the borough. These will in the long 

term contribute to the Council’s financial health and it is important the Council remains 

focussed and ensures pace in the delivery of these objectives. In effect to become 

financially self-sufficient, Hyndburn will be required to remove nearly £1 in £5 from its 

current spend or replace it with other sources of funding by 2020/21.  

 

3.4 The financial position is well understood internally. The Council has fostered an 

organisational culture of effective cost control to protect the public purse. The Revenue 

Outturn 2017/18 position reported a small underspend of 4% overall. However, slippage 

in the capital programme 2017/18 arose to ensure the revenue implications were fully 

understood.  

 

3.5 Reserve levels are well above the “top ten” statistical nearest neighbour average. At the 

end of 2017/18, earmarked and general fund balances stood at £14m compared to £5m 

in 2008/9. These are able to provide a buffer to assist in the delivery of corporate 

objectives and maintain organisational resilience.  

 

3.6 Hyndburn has foregone council tax revenues of £1m as a result of past decisions not to 

increase council tax. Collection rates for both council tax and business rates are lower 

quartile of north west district councils. 

 

3.7 Hyndburn has successfully maintained a balanced budget in 2018/19 with approved 

savings of £1.7m (15%).  Savings are focussed on the back office protecting the front-

line wherever possible. To date savings have been generated from specific 

transformational decisions or  taken as opportunities present themselves.  

 

Page 49



 

 

3.8 Opportunities exist for further reductions in service costs as the Council however has 

relatively high unit cost in service provision overall compared to its “top ten” statistical 

nearest neighbour.  

 

3.9 The capital programme does not place any reliance on new borrowing the Council has 

actively sought to reduce its debt levels and has limited the size of the capital 

programme in response. General fund capital financing requirement per head of 

population is well below the average as compared against the “top ten” statistical 

nearest neighbours. 

 

3.10 In addition, Hyndburn has had success in generating capital receipts relative to its “top 

ten” statistical nearest neighbours. 

 

3.11 Hyndburn has not revised its MRP policy although its overall level of financing costs is 

well below the “top ten” statistical nearest neighbour average.  

 

4 Areas for further consideration 

 

As part of the LGA financial peer review, Hyndburn Borough Council may usefully wish 

to consider: 

 
4.1 Maintaining focus and the pace of delivery of the corporate priorities of housing and 

business growth as set out in the refreshed corporate plan as these will contribute to 

long term financial sustainability; 

 

4.2 Strengthening linkages between the refreshed corporate plan and the medium term 

financial strategy thereby ensuring finances are aligned to corporate priorities, reflect 

planned activity; and these remain affordable;  

 

4.3 Improving organisational intelligence by integrating financial and service performance 

monitoring to better understand impact and outcomes of saving proposals and budget 

variations on services and stakeholders; and, by ensuring the revenue consequences of 

the capital programme are appropriately reflected in the revenue budget; 

 

4.4 Whether there may be opportunities to borrow in support of corporate objectives, 

commercial or invest to save schemes giving additional revenue benefits in excess of 

financing costs, assessed through robust business case appraisal; 

 

4.5 Adopting a council tax policy that maximises council tax revenues recognising the 

national direction of travel to financial self-sustainability, whilst acknowledging this is a 

local political decision. Allied to this is maintaining a focus on improving overall collection 

rates; 

 

Page 50



 

 

4.6 Whether there are further opportunities to reduce unit costs to bring in line with the “top 

ten” statistical nearest neighbour average possibly up to £1.6m; 

 

4.7 Empowering front line staff to improve resource management capacity to mitigate risk as 

the back office downsizes; 

 

4.8 Bringing in a number of technical changes to improve budget management. In particular, 

there may be short term benefits from a change in the Minimum Revenue Provision 

policy that could usefully be adopted within the prevailing regulation and guidance. 

Similarly, the Council may find it useful to have in place an approved policy to use (time 

limited) capital receipt flexibility to support transformation;  

 

4.9 To make best use of the capital receipts currently held in reserve of £5.8m to maximise 

the financial return on the revenue budget. 

 
 

5 Approach  

A desk top review of key documents produced as part of the annual budget strategy 
2018/19, together with the outturn position for 2017/18. A full list of documents reviewed 
is attached at Appendix 2.  
 
A benchmarking exercise was undertaken to compare the Council’s financial standing 
with the “top ten” statistical nearest neighbour using the CIPFA Standard model. The 
statistical neighbours are determined by several factors disclosed at Appendix 3. Data 
collection was based on government revenue outturn, capital outturn and revenue 
estimate data tables, published on gov.uk. Comparative outliers with North West district 
councils were also identified using the LGA Financial Diagnostic report prepared in July 
2018.  
 
A one day site visit was held on 6 August 2018 which took place at Scaitcliffe House, 
Accrington. One to one meetings were held with key officers and members including the 
Finance Portfolio holder; the Chief Executive; Deputy Chief Executive (s151 officer); 
Head of Accountancy & Admin and Internal Audit Manager. Those interviewed provided 
prompt response to my queries and I would like to take this opportunity to thank them for 
their time. 
 

6 Detailed Findings 

 

6.1 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/19 – 2020/21 

 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy prepared February 2018 indicates a cumulative 

gap of £3.7m over the three year period. This represents some 33% of total resources 

available in 2018/19. Of particular significance is the anticipated loss of Revenue 

Support Grant of £2m over the period and the County Council loss of support for 

recycling of £0.8m which took effect from 1 April 2018.  

 

Page 51



 

 

The Council was able to set a balanced budget in 2018/19 through the identification of 

savings amounting to nearly £1.7m and the temporary use of reserves of £0.1m. 

Additional savings are planned in 2019/20 and 2020/21 of £0.6m and £1.4m 

respectively.  

 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy adopts good practice in providing sensitivity 

analysis with best case and worst case scenarios. The overall gap therefore varies 

within a range of £2.4m (best case scenario) to £5.9m (worst case). The strategy clearly 

reports the continuing pressure the Council faces and for the Council to continue to take 

“tough decisions over service provision” in the medium term. 

 

The Council is currently preparing a new Corporate Strategy with a draft provided during 

the site visit. This strategy will cover the period 2018-2023 and sets out a vision for 

growth, efficiency and quality services. The Corporate Strategy sets out guiding 

principles around ensuring effective financial management as the Council moves to 

financial self-sufficiency. In addition, the Corporate Strategy includes proposals for 

housing and business growth and a number of projects and initiative for service 

improvement. As the MTFS was approved in February 2018 prior to the preparation of 

the Corporate Plan an exercise to ensure the two key strategic documents are 

appropriately aligned would serve to strengthen the Council’s strategic planning.   

 

In 2018/19 the Council approved council tax increases of £5 for Band D properties. This 

was the second rise in council tax since 2009/10. The Budget report clearly states the 

Council’s decisions over the period is equivalent to £53 for a Band D property. With a 

council tax base at 20,506 for 2018/19, this means the Council has foregone over £1m 

in council tax revenues in 2018/19. Whilst this is a matter for local politicians the impact 

of such a decision is counter to the national direction of travel of financial independence 

of local authorities and adds to the financial challenge facing the Council.  

 

In comparison to other north west shire district councils (outturn 2016/17), Hyndburn had 
the second lowest council tax collection rate at 94.8%. This may in part be attributable to 
the relatively high level of benefit claimants (NW District Rank 17/18 Q4 2016) 
contributing towards their council tax bills. However, the Council may be able to consider 
ways in which overall collection rates could be improved possibly by considering best 
practice in other councils. Furthermore, Hyndburn experienced lowest level of business 
rates collected at 93.8% in 2016/17.  
 
Summary: The Council understands its medium term challenges operating good practice 
in presenting a range of scenarios within its medium term financial strategy. A refresh of 
the corporate plan is currently being undertaken which sets out the key strategic 
priorities to 2023. The Council has foregone council tax revenues of £1m as a 
consequence of past decisions not to increase council tax. Collection rates both for 
council tax and business rate are lower quartile of north west district councils. 
 
Area for further consideration: To usefully consider: 
  

Page 52



 

 

 Strengthening linkages between the newly refreshed corporate plan and the 

medium term financial strategy thereby ensuring finances are aligned to strategic 

priorities, reflect planned activity; and remain affordable; 

 

 Adopting a council tax policy that maximises council tax revenues recognising the 

national direction of travel to financial self-sustainability, whilst acknowledging this 

is a local political decision. Allied to this is a maintaining a focus on improving 

overall collection rates. 

 

 
6.2 Saving Plans 

Savings of nearly £1.7m were identified and approved as part of the 2018/19 Budget, 
representing 15% of total available resources. The budget report identifies a list of 
savings for approval prepared through the Corporate Management team. Whilst there is 
clarity on the savings being considered, the impact assessment on service delivery is 
not clearly identified against each saving proposal.  
 
Savings are developed on a continual basis and the Council has to date been able to 
take savings from specific service transformation or as the opportunity emerges: for 
example, through a customer focused digital strategy via investment in the  contact 
centre; estate rationalisation leading to the sale of properties and disposal to the third 
sector; and the transformation of waste collection services as well as the proactive  
management of vacant posts, opportunities to grow sources of income and the planned 
reduction of borrowing costs. The Council currently does not have in place an approved 
policy to use capital receipts flexibility in support of transformation, which is currently 
being made available by government for a limited period.  
 
The Council’s approach has been one of “shifting resources from central and support 
services into front line services”. As a consequence, almost 40% of the savings are 
found from the back office which represents 30% of the overall budget. The Council may 
usefully assure itself that front line staff are empowered and have capacity for effective 
resource management to avoid potential risk exposure in the event of reduced support 
from professional advisers in finance, procurement, HR and legal matters.  
 
The Budget 2018/19 has used £100k of reserves as a one-off support as the Council 
adjusts to the significant loss of recycling income from the County Council. The use of 
reserves as budget support is not planned to continue beyond 2018/19.  
 
Summary: Hyndburn has successfully maintained a balanced budget in 2018/19 with 
approved savings of £1.7m (15%).  Savings are focussed on the back office protecting 
the front-line wherever possible. To date savings are a mixture of service based 
transformational actions and opportunities that have presented themselves.  
 
Areas for further consideration: To usefully consider: 

 Whether decision making of savings proposals could be better informed through 

greater clarity of the impact on services and stakeholders; 

 

Page 53



 

 

 Empowering front line staff to improve resource management capacity to mitigate 

risk as the back office downsizes; 

 

 Whether an approved policy to use (time limited) capital receipt flexibility to 

support transformation may assist in the generation of future savings.  

 
6.3 Capital programme 

  

The Capital programme 2018/19 is a one year programme of nearly £5m. It sets out 

plans to invest £1.2m in Accrington Town Centre, £1.1m housing renewal plus disability 

facility support of £0.8m along with a number of other investments in recycling, leisure 

and asset management. Going forward the Council intends to prepare a multiyear 

capital investment programme as part of its new corporate strategic planning approach. 

 

The capital programme is funded in a way that avoids any increase in borrowing, the 

capital programme report states the Council has an explicit aim of “limiting the increase 

in debt and borrowing costs”. As a consequence, the Council has reduced estimated 

debt in 2018/19 projected at £27m in 2004 to £9.5m currently. 

 

Benchmarking of the capital financing requirement with the “top ten” statistical nearest 

neighbours as shown below indicates the Council’s overall underlying need to borrow is 

about one third of the average for “top ten” statistical nearest neighbours:  

Page 54



 

 

 

General Fund Capital Financing Requirement 2018/191  
(per head of population) 

Hyndburn £117.86 

  

Statistical Nearest Neighbour (top ten)  

Average £371.00 

Minimum 0.0 

Maximum £1,053.90 

Rank (1= highest) out of 10 7 

 
The capital programme does not contain funding set aside to develop Invest to Save 
proposals and there is not an established Invest to Save process. The Council may be 
overlooking potential opportunity to create a financial return to the Council whilst 
contributing to corporate objectives. 
 
Summary: The capital programme does not place any reliance on new borrowing. The 
Council has actively sought to reduce its debt levels and has limited the size of the 
capital programme in response. General fund capital financing requirement per head of 
population is well below the average as compared against the “top ten” statistical 
nearest neighbours. 
 
Area for further consideration: To usefully consider whether there may be opportunities 
to borrow in support of commercial or invest to save schemes giving additional revenue 
benefits in excess of financing costs, assessed through robust business case appraisal; 
 
  

6.4 Treasury Management 

 

Local authorities are required to set aside an amount each year to meet the cost of 

borrowing – the minimum revenue provision. Under regulation, local authorities are 

required to set out each year a policy to make prudent provision although options are 

available to councils. In recent years, many local authorities have adapted their MRP 

Policy to reprofile their commitments to give annual budget savings upfront yet still 

comply in full to the regulatory framework.  

 

Hyndburn Borough Council however has continued to set MRP with the historic method 

with a uniform rate of 4% of capital financing requirement. Other options available to the 

Council include an amount for set aside based on asset life with equal annual 

instalments or an annuity method where payments gradually increase during the life of 

the asset. A possible change in policy may provide some financial benefit over the next 

few years and assist the Council as it adjusts to becoming financially self-sufficient by 

2020/21.   

Of particular interest is the comparison of ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 
across the “top ten” statistical nearest neighbours, which is shown below: 

                                                      
1
 As per approved Treasury Management Strategy 2018/19 

Page 55



 

 

 

Ratio of Financing costs to net revenue stream 2018/192  
(%) 

Hyndburn 4.0 

  

Statistical Nearest Neighbour (top ten)  

Average 6.04 

Minimum -4.5 

Maximum 13.3 

Rank (1= highest) out of 10 6 

 
Hyndburn’s financing costs are well below the “top ten” statistical nearest neighbour 
average of 6%, this is probably in response to the Council’s explicit aim of “no new 
borrowing”. It may be possible to reduce the ratio further if the Council were to revisit its 
MRP policy. 
 
Summary: Hyndburn has not revised its MRP policy although its overall level of financing 
costs is well below the “top ten” statistical nearest neighbour average.  
 
Challenge: To consider whether there are any further flexibilities in relation to Minimum 
Revenue Provision that could usefully be adopted within the prevailing regulation and 
guidance. 
 

6.5 Reserves 

 

Reserves have increased significantly over the last ten years. In 2002-2004, reserves 

were largely eliminated, and since that time the Council has adopted an approach to 

promote organisational financial health by strengthening reserves. At the end of 

2017/18, earmarked and general fund balances stood £14m compared to £5m in 

2008/9. 

As part of this Financial Peer Review, a benchmarking exercise based on the published 
statement of accounts 2017/18 of the “top ten” statistical nearest neighbours showed the 
following: 
 
 

 

General Fund and GF Earmarked Reserves at 31 March 2018 as % of 
net budget requirement  
(%) 

Hyndburn 124% 

  

Statistical Nearest Neighbour (top ten)  

Average 104 

Minimum 47 

Maximum 226 

                                                      
2
 As per approved Treasury Management Strategy 2018/19 

Page 56



 

 

Rank (1= highest) out of 10 3 

 
Hyndburn has the third highest level of reserves as a % of the net budget requirement 
and is above the “top ten” statistical nearest neighbour average. The Council has clearly 
been successful in its objective of restoring reserves and these provide the Council with 
a buffer to aid delivery of strategic objectives and to provide resilience as the Council 
addresses its future financial challenge.  
 
Summary: Reserve levels are well above the “top ten” statistical nearest neighbour 
average. At the end of 2017/18, earmarked and general fund balances stood £14m 
compared to £5m in 2008/9. These are able to provide a buffer to assist in the delivery 
of corporate objectives and maintain organisational resilience. 
 
Areas for further consideration: There are no specific areas for the Council to consider 
although one way to protect reserves could usefully be considered by adopting the use 
of capital receipts flexibility to deliver transformational savings, in the event the Council 
is able to generate capital receipts over the relevant timeframe. 
 

6.6 Budget Management  

 

The Revenue Outturn position 2017/18 reported a small underspend of £438k, less than 

4% of the overall budget. 

The revenue outturn report clearly sets out where the variances arise. All areas 
achieved an underspend with the exception of the Regeneration service due to trading 
difficulties in the Market Hall. Whilst the financial narrative is clearly laid out, it is difficult 
to gain an understanding of impact on service delivery and how outcomes have been 
achieved. The Council already recognises a need for strengthened arrangements to 
monitor overall corporate performance and ensure the linkages exist between financial 
and service performance monitoring as it starts to bring to life its new Corporate 
Strategy. 
 
From the site visit, all interviewers stressed the importance of maintaining financial 
discipline and ensuring financial resilience. Confirmation was provided that budgets are 
delegated effectively, and the discipline of budget management is embedded across the 
Council. The Council has fostered an organisational culture of effective cost control to 
protect the public purse.  
 
External audit however has commented on progress in delivery of the capital 
programme in 2017/18 where spend was equivalent to 37% of the overall capital 
programme. Grant Thornton state “The Council has been unable to fully deliver its 
planned capital programme for the year due in the main to deferring some capital 
schemes given their future revenue impact……delays to the delivery of individual 
schemes can result in service benefits being postponed and potentially impact on 
availability and service quality issues”. 

 
Summary: The Council has fostered an organisational culture of effective cost control to 
protect the public purse. Slippage in the capital programme 2017/18 arose to ensure the 
revenue implications were fully understood. 

Page 57



 

 

 
Area for further consideration: The Council to usefully consider improving organisational 
intelligence: 
 

 by integrating financial and service performance monitoring to better understand 

impact and outcomes of budget variations on services and stakeholders; 

 

 by ensuring the revenue consequences of the capital programme are 

appropriately considered before approval to spend is given. 

 
 

6.7 Financial Standing  

 

This section aims to assess how well Hyndburn will move to financial self-sufficiency 

compared to its “top ten” statistical nearest neighbours. 

 

In comparing the loss of Revenue Support Grant over the Spending Review period (per 

head of population), Hyndburn will experience the second highest reduction within the 

“top ten” statistical nearest neighbour group.  

  

Page 58



 

 

  
 

RSG cash reduction over the period 2016/17-2019/20 3   
(per head of population) 

Hyndburn £21.14 

  

Statistical Nearest Neighbour (top ten)  

Average 16.10 

Minimum 12.40 

Maximum 23.90 

Rank (1= highest) out of 10 2 

 
Furthermore, in examining the reliance on Revenue Support Grant to fund the budget 
requirement, Hyndburn has the highest reliance on RSG as follows: 
 

RSG as a % of net budget requirement 2018/19 4   
 

Hyndburn 18.1% 

  

Statistical Nearest Neighbour (top ten)  

Average 7.4 

Minimum 0 

Maximum 18.1 

Rank (1= highest) out of 10 1 

 
With regard to generation of local sources of finance in terms of council tax and 
business rates income, Hyndburn is the lowest of the “top ten” statistical nearest 
neighbours as shown below: 
 

Local Revenue Funding as a % of net budget requirement 2018/19 5   

 Council tax Business rates 

Hyndburn 44% 32% 

   

Statistical Nearest Neighbour (top ten)   

Average 53% 38% 

Minimum 44% 32% 

Maximum 64% 43% 

Rank (1= highest) out of 10 10 10 

 
In summary Hyndburn is disproportionately dependent on Revenue Support Grant as 
the Council has the lowest council tax base and business rates base of the “top ten” 
statistical neighbours. The Council recognises its corporate objectives as being the 
delivery of housing growth with greater choice for residents; and, investment for growth 
by offering great opportunities for businesses to thrive in the borough. These will in the 

                                                      
3
 Local Government final settlement 2018/19- key information for local authorities 

4
 2018/19 RA forms 

5
 2018/19 RA forms 

Page 59



 

 

long term contribute to the Council’s financial health and it is important the Council 
remains focussed and ensures pace on the delivery of these objectives. In effect to 
become financially self-sufficient, Hyndburn will face a loss of RSG of £2m and will be 
required to remove nearly £1 in £5 from its current spend or replace it with other sources 
of funding by 2020/21. 
The Council, however, may have an opportunity to reduce its unit costs of service 
spend. Overall, Hyndburn has relatively high level of unit spend compared to the “top 
ten” statistical neighbours as shown below: 
  

Net Budget Requirement 2018/196   
(per head of population) 

Hyndburn £139.90 

  

Statistical Nearest Neighbour (top ten)  

Average 119.75 

Minimum 96.28 

Maximum 173.71 

Rank (1= highest) out of 10 3 

  
In essence, the Council spends some £20 more per head of population than the average 
for the “top ten” statistical nearest neighbour. If Hyndburn were able to bring spending in 
line with the average, they would be able to save some £1.6m. 
In addition, the Council has had some success in being able to generate capital receipts 
as follows: 
 

Capital Receipts Reserve at 31/3/20187   
(per head of population) 

Hyndburn £68.64 

  

Statistical Nearest Neighbour (top ten)  

Average 44.66 

Minimum 1.03 

Maximum 220.00 

Rank (1= highest) out of 10 2 

 
Hyndburn’s level of capital receipts is well above the “top ten” statistical nearest 
neighbour average and is currently the second highest. The Council has an opportunity 
to use this funding in a way that gives the best payback to the Council. 
 
Summary: Hyndburn is disproportionately dependent on Revenue Support Grant and 
the Council has the lowest council tax base and business rates base of the comparator 
group. The Council recognises its corporate objectives as being the delivery of housing 
growth with greater choice for residents; and, investment for growth by offering 
opportunities for businesses to thrive in the borough. These will in the long term 
contribute to the Council’s financial health and it is important the Council remains 

                                                      
6
 2018/19 RA forms 

7
 Statement of Accounts published August 2018 

Page 60



 

 

focussed on the delivery of these objectives. In effect to become financially self-
sufficient, Hyndburn will face a loss of RSG of £2m and will be required to remove nearly 
£1 in £5 from its current spend or replace it with other sources of funding by 2020/21. 
The Council however has relatively high unit cost in service provision overall and has 
had some success in generating capital receipts. 
 
Area for further consideration: The Council to usefully consider: 

 

 Maintaining focus and the pace of delivery of the corporate priorities of housing 

and business growth as set out in the Corporate Plan as these will contribute to 

long term financial sustainability; 
 

 whether there are further opportunities to reduce unit costs to bring in line with the 

“top ten” statistical nearest neighbour average possibly up to £1.6m; 
 

 how best to maximise the return on capital receipts the Council holds of £5.8m to 

assist in the delivery of corporate objectives and contribute to the bottom line.  
 

 
 
  

Page 61



 

 

Appendix 1 
 
Hyndburn Borough Council  
LGA Finance Review  
Terms of Reference 
Background 
Hyndburn Council has requested the LGA undertake a financial review. The purpose of this is 
to give the authority an independent assessment on its current financial position, future 
budget challenges and the councils strategic response in ensuring financial sustainability.    
Scope 
The review will cover: 

 A review of annual budget setting and preparation of the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy, including an appraisal of budget planning assumptions; 

 The council’s approach to balancing the budget including the development and delivery 

of saving plans; 

 View of reserve management and general reliance on non-recurrent funding; 

 Current view of budget management and budgetary control;  

 The council’s approach to the development of the Capital Programme and Treasury 

Management Strategy; 

 An overall view of the Council’s current financial standing both revenue and capital 

budget with a contextual appraisal using key strategic benchmarks for sustainability; 

 
Deliverable Output 
 
An independent report for internal consideration by the Council that provides: 
 

 A commentary on the how the council has approached its budget challenge to date; 

 A contextual appraisal of the council’s financial standing compared to other local 

authorities; 

 Suggestions as to how the approach to budget setting could be improved; 

 Recommendation of possible areas worthy of exploration contributing to financial 

sustainability.  

Timescale 
It is anticipated this work will take place during August 2018 and will require 4-5 working days 
to complete as follows:  

 Desk top review (including benchmarking) - two days   

 Site visit - one day 

 Report drafting - one day 

 One further day for finalisation of the report and any follow up activity required 

 
 
 

LGA Personnel  
The review will be undertaken by the LGA NW Financial Improvement and Sustainability 
Adviser, Helen Seechurn. The LGA Principal Advisor (NW) Claire Hogan will be the 
commissioner of this review.  

Page 62



 

 

 
Hyndburn Council Personnel 
The primary liaison will be through Joe McIntyre, Deputy Chief Executive who will make the 
necessary arrangements for the  site visit. 
 
Meetings 
Indicative One to One meeting will be held with 

- Chief Executive 

- Deputy Chief Executive (S151 Officer) 

- Cabinet Member with responsibility for Finance 

- Head of Finance 

- Head of Internal Audit 

 
Cost 
There is no cost to Hyndburn Council for this review as it is part of the LGA Sector Led 
Improvement Offer. 
 
Preliminary Activity 

 Confirm date of site visit and timetable 

 Agree benchmarking group for comparative purposes 

 Review of key data  

o Latest Revenue Estimate returns (RA forms) 

o Latest Revenue Outturn (RO forms) 

o LGA Financial Diagnostic toolkit 

o Local Government Final Financial Settlement 2018/19 

o Approved MTFS, revenue budget and capital programme at Budget Council 

2018. 

o Outturn position 2017/18 – revenue and capital 

o Draft Statement of Accounts 2017/18 

o Latest External Audit Opinion including VFM Assessment  

o Treasury Management Strategy 2018/19 

HELEN SEECHURN 
MAY 2018 
  

Page 63



 

 

Appendix 2 
Hyndburn Borough Council  
LGA Independent Financial Peer Review  
 
Documents Reviewed  
The following key documents were reviewed in developing the evidence base:  

 Local Government Finance Settlement 2018/19 

 Revenue Summary Estimates 2018/19 

 Published Statement of Accounts 2017/18 (as at August 2018) for each of the “top ten” 

statistical nearest neighbours 

 NOMIS population estimates mid-year census 2017 (as at August 2018) 

 LGA Financial Diagnostic Toolkit prepared 23rd July 2018 

 Treasury Management Strategy 2018/19 for each of the “top ten” statistical nearest 

neighbours February/March 2018 

 Hyndburn Borough Council Medium Term Financial Strategy 2018/9 to 2020/21 

 Hyndburn Borough Council - Financial outturn report 2017/18 Revenue and Capital 

 Hyndburn Borough Council - Revenue and Capital Budget 2018/19 

 Reserve Levels 10 year history 

Grant Thornton Audit Findings Report year ending March 2018 ( draft as at 10 July 2018 
 
  

Page 64



 

 

Appendix 3 
 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
“Top Ten” Statistical Neighbours 
Criteria for Selection 
 
The “top ten” CIPFA statistical nearest neighbours based on the standard family group using 
the original model specification: 
 

 Population 

 Population aged 0-17 

 Population aged 75-84 

 % Population of working age 

 Output Area Density 

 Output Area Based Sparsity 

 Tax base per head of population 

 % Unemployment 

 Retail space per 1000 population 

 Housing benefit caseload (percentage of population in receipt) 

 % of people born outside the UK/Ireland  

 % of households with less than four rooms 

 % of households in social rented sector 

 % of persons in lower social groups 

 Standardised mortality ratio for all persons 

 Non Domestic rateable value per head of population 

 % of properties in bands A to D 

 % of properties in bands E to H 

 Area cost adjustment 

 
 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Audit Letter
Year ending 31 March 2018

Hyndburn Borough Council

29 August 2018

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 7.



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive Summary 3

2. Audit of the Accounts 4

3. Value for Money conclusion 8

Appendices

A  Reports issued and fees

Your key Grant Thornton 
team members are:

Andy Smith

Engagement Lead

T: 0161 953 6472 

E: andrew.j.smith@uk.gt.com

Perminder Sethi

Senior Manager

T: 0113 200 2547

E: perminder.sethil@uk.gt.com

Aaron Gouldman

In-charge Auditor

T: 0161 214 3678

E: aaron.r.gouldman@uk.gt.com

P
age 68



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 3

Executive Summary
Purpose

Our Annual Audit Letter (Letter) summarises the key findings arising from the work 
that we have carried out at Hyndburn Borough Council (the Council) and its 
associates (the Group) for the year ended 31 March 2018.  

This Letter is intended to provide a commentary on the results of our work to the 
Council and external stakeholders, and to highlight issues that we wish to draw to the 
attention of the public. In preparing this Letter, we have followed the National Audit 
Office (NAO)'s Code of Audit Practice and Auditor Guidance Note (AGN) 07 –
'Auditor Reporting'. We reported the detailed findings from our audit work to the 
Council's Audit Committee as those charged with governance in our Audit Findings 
Report on 30 July 2018.

Respective responsibilities

We have carried out our audit in accordance with the NAO's Code of Audit Practice, which 
reflects the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the Act). Our key 
responsibilities are to:

• give an opinion on the Council and group's financial statements (section two)

• assess the Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources (the value for money conclusion) (section three).

In our audit of the Council and group's financial statements, we comply with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs) and other guidance issued by the NAO.

Materiality We determined materiality for the audit of the Council’s financial statements to be £939,000 (Group £939,320), which is 2% of the Council’s 
(and Group’s) gross revenue expenditure. 

Financial Statements opinion We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council and Group’s financial statements on 31 July 2018. 

Use of statutory powers We did not identify any matters which required us to exercise our additional statutory powers.

Value for Money arrangements We were satisfied that the Council put in place proper arrangements to ensure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
We reflected this in our audit report to the Council on 31 July 2018.

Certification of Grants We also carry out work to certify the Council's Housing Benefit subsidy claim on behalf of the Department for Work and Pensions. Our work on 
this claim is not yet complete and will be finalised by 30 November 2018. We will report the results of this work to the Audit Committee in  our 
Annual Certification Letter.

Certificate We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Hyndburn Borough Council in accordance with the requirements of the Code of 
Audit Practice.

Our work

P
age 69



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 4

Audit of the Accounts

Materiality

In our audit of the Council's financial statements, we use the concept of materiality to 
determine the nature, timing and extent of our work, and in evaluating the results of 
our work. We define materiality as the size of the misstatement in the financial 
statements that would lead a reasonably knowledgeable person to change or 
influence their economic decisions. 

We determined materiality for the audit of the Council's accounts to be £939,000 
(Group £939,320), which is 2% of the Council's (and Group’s) gross revenue 
expenditure. We used this benchmark as, in our view, users of the Council’s and 
group’s financial statements are most interested in where the Council and group has 
spent its revenue in the year. 

We also set a lower level of specific materiality for senior officer remuneration of 
£15,000 due to its sensitive nature. 

We set a lower threshold of £47,000 (Group £47,016), above which we reported 
errors to the Audit Committee in our Audit Findings Report.

The scope of our audit

Our audit involves obtaining sufficient evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements to give reasonable assurance that they are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes assessing whether:

• the accounting policies are appropriate, have been consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed

• the significant accounting estimates made by management are reasonable

• the overall presentation of the financial statements gives a true and fair view. 

We also read the remainder of the statement of accounts, the narrative report and the annual 
governance statement to check that they are consistent with our understanding of the 
Council, and with the financial statements included in the statement of accounts on which we 
gave our opinion.

We carry out our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK) and the NAO Code of Audit Practice. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

Our audit approach is based on a thorough understanding of the Council’s business and is 
risk based. 

We identified key risks and set out overleaf the work we performed in response to these risks 
and the results of this work.

P
age 70



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 5

Audit of the Accounts
Significant Audit Risks

These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Improper revenue recognition

Under ISA 240 (UK) there is a presumed risk that 
revenue may be misstated due to the improper 
recognition of revenue. 

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor 
concludes that there is no risk of material 
misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue 
recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the revenue 
streams at the Council, we have determined that the risk of fraud arising from revenue 
recognition can be rebutted, because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including at Hyndburn Borough 
Council, mean that all forms of fraud are seen as unacceptable

Therefore, we did not consider this to be a significant risk for Hyndburn Borough Council.

Whilst we rebutted this risk, our other 
work on the Council’s income including 
council tax, non domestic rates, grants 
and other income did not identify any 
issues.  

Management override of controls

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable 
presumed risk that the risk of management over-
ride of controls is present in all entities.

We have:

• gained an understanding of the accounting estimates, judgements applied and 
decisions made by management and considered their reasonableness 

• obtained a full listing of journal entries, identified and tested any unusual risk journal 
entries for appropriateness

• evaluated the rationale for any changes in accounting policies or significant unusual 
transactions

• reviewed significant related party transactions.

Our audit work has not identified any 
issues in respect of management 
override of controls.

P
age 71



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 6

Audit of the Accounts
Significant Audit Risks (continued)

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Valuation of pension liability

The Council's pension fund asset and liability as 
reflected in its balance sheet represent  a 
significant estimate in the financial statements.

We identified the valuation of the pension fund 
net liability as a risk requiring special audit 
consideration.

We have:

• identified the controls put in place by management to ensure that the pension fund 
net liability is not materially misstated and assessed whether those controls were 
implemented as expected and whether they were sufficient to mitigate the risk of 
material misstatement

• reviewed the competence, expertise and objectivity of the actuary who carried out the 
Council's pension fund valuation

• gained an understanding of the basis on which the IAS 19 valuation was carried out, 
undertaking procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions 
made

• reviewed the consistency of the pension fund net liability disclosures in the notes to 
the financial statements with the actuarial report from your actuary.

Our audit work has not identified any 
issues in respect of the valuation of the 
pension fund liability.

Valuation of plant, property and equipment

The Council carries out a rolling programme of 
valuations that ensures property, plant and 
equipment is revalued at least every five years.  
This aims to ensure that the carrying value is not 
materially different from fair value. This 
represents a significant estimate by 
management in the financial statements.

We identified the valuation of land and buildings 
revaluations and impairments as a risk requiring 
special audit consideration.

We have:

• reviewed management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of the 
estimate

• considered the competence, expertise and objectivity of the management experts 
used

• reviewed the instructions issued to valuation experts and the scope of their work

• reviewed and challenged the information used by the valuer to ensure it was robust 
and consistent with our understanding

• tested revaluations made during the year to ensure they were input correctly into the 
Council's asset register

• evaluated the assumptions made by management for those assets not revalued 
during the year and how management satisfied themselves that these were not 
materially different to current value.

Our testing of assets held for sale identified two instances where assets which had been 
sold or partly disposed of had not been correctly removed from assets held for sale due 
to the complex nature of the disposal. Management has corrected the financial 
statements to appropriately record both these transactions. One of these disposals 
resulted in net additional income of £190,000 to the Council and group’s reported 
financial position for the year.

Other than the issue relating to 
disposals, our audit procedures did not 
identify any other significant issues in 
relation to the valuation of plant, 
property and equipment. 

P
age 72



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 7

Audit of the Accounts

Audit opinion

We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council and Group’s financial statements on 31 
July 2018

Preparation of the accounts

The Council presented us with draft accounts in accordance with the national deadline, 
and provided a good set of working papers to support them. The finance team responded 
promptly and efficiently to our queries during the course of the audit.

Issues arising from the audit of the accounts

We reported the key issues from our audit to the Council's Audit Committee on 30 July 
2018. 

We identified one adjustment affecting the group and Council’s reported financial position 
relating to income from the partial disposal of land not being recognised. The net impact 
was additional income of £190,000 which the Council has processed in its accounts.

A number of amendments were also made to the financial statements following our audit 
in respect of disclosure and classification changes. These had no impact on the group 
and Council’s reported financial position for 2017/18.

Certificate of closure of the audit

We are also required to certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of 
Hyndburn Borough Council in accordance with the requirements of the Code of Audit 
Practice. We issued our certificate on the closure of the audit on 31 July 2018.

Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report

We are required to review the Council’s Annual Governance Statement and Narrative 
Report. It published them on its website in the Statement of Accounts in line with the 
national deadlines. 

Our review of the Narrative Report identified a few areas where disclosures could be 
further developed, for example in respect of the Council’s Corporate Strategy and 
Vision. Officers updated the Narrative Report to reflect the findings from our review.

Both documents were prepared in line with the CIPFA Code and relevant supporting 
guidance. We confirmed that both documents were consistent with  the financial 
statements prepared by the Council and with our knowledge of the Council. 

P
age 73



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 8

Value for Money conclusion

Background

We carried out our review in accordance with the NAO Code of Audit Practice, following 
the guidance issued by the NAO in November 2017 which specified the criterion for 
auditors to evaluate:

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys 
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 

Key findings

Our first step in carrying out our work was to perform a risk assessment and identify the 
key risks where we concentrated our work.

The key risks we identified and the work we performed are set out overleaf.

Overall Value for Money conclusion

We are satisfied that in all significant respects the Council put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 
for the year ending 31 March 2018.

P
age 74



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 9

Value for Money conclusion
Key Value for Money risks

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Financial position and sustainability

The Council as other local authorities continues 
to operate under significant financial pressures. 
However, whilst the Council does not have a 
history of financial difficulty, the position is 
beginning to become more challenging. 

At the December review of budget performance, 
the Council was forecasting a favourable 
variance on the General Revenue Account 
(GRA) of £336,000 for 2017/18.

In January, the Council identified a forecast 
budget gap of £1.687m for 2018/19. The 
Council has identified around £1.687m of 
savings for 2018/19 via the policy options 
process. The Council continues to face a 
challenging financial position going forward with 
a budget gap of around £0.560 in 2019/20 and 
£1.424m in 2020/21.

As part of our audit we:

• reviewed budget monitoring 
reports and updates to the 
Medium Term Financial Plan

• reviewed plans to address future 
potential budget gaps 

• reviewed how the Council is 
identifying, managing and 
monitoring financial risks

• reviewed revenue and capital 
reports.

We found:

• for 2017/18, the Council delivered an actual deficit on the provision of services of £1,118k 
(£1,332k in 2016/17) based on total net expenditure of £13,049k. An outturn underspend 
was achieved of £438,000 on the GRA for 2017/18 compared to the favourable variance 
projected in December 2017 of £336,000

• the Council delivered savings during the year of £1,486k, some £438k higher than the 
budgeted savings of £1,048k included in the 2017/18 budget. Total savings delivered by 
the Council over the last six years amount to over £7,700k

• the Council’s capital spend during 2017/18 amounted to £3,432k. The main areas of 
spending related to Accrington Town Centre (£1,375k), housing related schemes (£940k) 
and a further £458k being spent on parks and open spaces

• the Council approved it’s 2018/19 budget in February 2018 with a 2.12% increase in 
Council Tax. Total expenditure was estimated at £12,861k with resources expected of 
£11,174k requiring savings during the year of £1,687k. Whilst challenging, the Council 
believes it will be able to deliver the necessary savings required during the year 

• in February 2018, the Council approved the updated Medium Term Financial Strategy 
covering the period, 2018/19 to 2020/21. Whilst not as challenging as in 2018/19, savings 
required are estimated at £560k in 2019/20 and £1,424k in 2020/21

• senior officers consider activity to date for 2018/19 is in accordance with budget and whilst 
risks remain, these will be managed with a balanced outturn position projected.

Conclusion

• The Council has a history of effective financial management and control and delivering a 
surplus outturn position. 

• Whilst a surplus has been delivered in 2017/18, next year, 2018/19 will continue to be 
challenging given the significant savings required to be delivered of £1,687k. There is a 
need for the Council to continue to closely monitor its budget and the savings being 
delivered.

P
age 75



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 10

Value for Money conclusion

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk Findings and conclusions

Capital Programme

The Council has an ambitious capital 
programme to regenerate parts of the borough. 
The Council approved a capital programme for 
2017/18 of £9.3m which was subsequently 
increased to £12.01m.

The capital programme consists of housing 
improvements and various other schemes. We 
understand from discussions with officers that a 
major new development is also currently under 
discussion. 

We will consider the delivery of the Council’s 
capital programme for 2017/18 against budget 
and any associated slippage. We will also 
continue to discuss with officers proposals for 
major future developments and how the Council 
is identifying and managing any associated 
risks. 

As part of our audit we:

• considered the delivery of the 
Council’s capital programme for 
2017/18 against budget and 
any associated slippage

• discussed with officers 
proposals for major future 
developments and how the 
Council is identifying and 
managing any associated risks

• reviewed revenue and capital 
reports.

We found:

• that in 2017/18, the Council delivered a total capital programme of £3,432k, or some 37% of 
the original capital programme for the year

• discussions with officers indicates that slippage has mainly arisen during the year due to 
deferring some capital schemes. However, officers consider all approved schemes will  be 
delivered and have not been cancelled, only deferred. Delays to the delivery of individual 
schemes can result in service benefits being postponed and potentially impact on 
availability and service quality issues

• the Council has a clear focus on redevelopment within the borough and wherever possible, 
encouraging business and developments which create jobs and boost the local economy. 
To this end, the Council has been working with an external company to support in the 
building of a hotel and conference centre with the potential for future development of shops 
and industrial units. This support has been on-going for some time and the development 
has now started to be built

• housing is a key focus for the Council and it has been in discussions with Homes England 
regarding a former power station site in the borough consisting of some 90 acres and the 
potential to build a significant number of new homes. A masterplan for this development is 
currently being prepared which is expected to be available by December 2018

• the Council has a clear focus on assessing risks in all the developments it considers and 
takes appropriate legal advice both internally and externally when required.

Conclusion

• The Council has been unable to fully deliver its planned capital programme for the year due 
in the main to deferring some capital schemes. Officers remain aware of this situation and 
are confident that all schemes will be delivered. However, delays to the delivery of individual 
schemes can result in service benefits being postponed and potentially impact on 
availability and service quality issues

• The Council has good partnership working arrangements in place which it utilises to support 
the regeneration of the borough. It has been successful in attracting a major development of 
a new hotel and conference centre and is working towards a significant scheme for new 
homes.

P
age 76



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018 11

A. Reports issued and fees
We confirm below our final reports issued and fees charged for the audit and the provision of non-audit services. 

Fees issued Planned

£

Actual fees 

£

2016/17 fees

£

Statutory Council audit 46,927 46,927 46,927

Additional fees for the audit of the group 
accounts1

3,000 3,000 2,900

Housing Benefit Grant Certification 4,224 4,224 6,165

Total fees 54,151 54,151 55,992

The planned fees for the year were in line with the scale fee set by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Ltd (PSAA). 

1  In addition to the audit fee of £46,927, we agreed last year a fee variation to cover 
the additional work required as a result of the requirement for the Council to produce 
group accounts. We propose a similar fee variation for this year, 2017/18 of £3,000. 
This fee variation is subject to agreement by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd.

Report issued Date issued

Audit Plan March 2018

Audit Findings Report July 2018

Annual Audit Letter August 2018

Non- audit services

No non-audit services were provided by Grant Thornton UK LLP to the Authority during 
the year ended 31 March 2018.

Working with the Council

During the year we have delivered a number of successful outcomes with you:

• an efficient audit – we worked with officers during the year to ensure the earlier 
accounts preparation and audit deadlines were achieved. We also completed the 
bulk of our audit fieldwork during June 2018 in accordance with the timetable 
agreed with Officers 

• improved financial processes – we worked with you to improve your processes 
including strengthening arrangements for identifying and accounting for asset 
disposals

• sharing our insight – we provided regular Audit Committee updates covering best 
practice. We also shared our thought leadership reports

• providing training – we provided your teams with training on financial accounts and 
annual reporting.

We would like to record our appreciation for the assistance and co-operation provided 
to us during our audit by the Council's staff.

P
age 77



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Annual Audit Letter  |  August 2018

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 
firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 
separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 78



Audit Progress Report and Sector Update

Hyndburn Borough Council

Year ending 31 March 2019

November 2018

P
age 79

A
genda Item

 8.



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

Contents

Section Page

Introduction 3

Progress at November 2018 4

Audit Deliverables 5

Sector Update 6

Links 15

2

P
age 80



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

This paper provides the Audit Committee with a report on progress in 

delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors. 

The paper also includes:

• a summary of emerging national issues and developments that may be relevant to you as a local authority; and

• includes a number of challenge questions in respect of these emerging issues which the Committee may wish to 

consider (these are a tool to use, if helpful, rather than formal questions requiring responses for audit purposes)

Members of the Audit Committee can find further useful material on our website, where we have a section dedicated 

to our work in the public sector. Here you can download copies of our publications at www.grant-thornton.co.uk

If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to 

receive regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or 

Engagement Manager.

Introduction

3

Andrew Smith

Engagement Lead

T 0161 953 6472 

M 07760 214550

E andrew.j.smith@uk.gt.com

Helen Stevenson

Engagement Manager

M 07880 456210

E helen.l.stevenson@uk.gt.com

P
age 81



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

2018/19 Audit

We have begun our planning processes for the 2018/19 

financial year audit. 

Our detailed work and audit visits will begin later in the 

year and we will discuss the timing of these visits with 

management. In the meantime we will:

• continue to hold regular discussions with 

management to inform our risk assessment for the 

2018/19 financial statements and value for money 

audits;

• review minutes and papers from key meetings; and

• continue to review relevant sector updates to ensure 

that we capture any emerging issues and consider 

these as part of audit plans.

Progress at November 2018

4

Other areas

Certification of claims and returns

We are required to certify the Council’s annual Housing 

Benefit Subsidy claim in accordance with procedures 

agreed with the Department for Work and Pensions. 

This certification work for the 2017/18 claim will be 

concluded by the end of November 2018.

The results of the certification work will be reported to 

you in our certification letter at the next Audit Committee 

meeting

Meetings

We have regular meetings with senior management as 

part of our ongoing liaison. We continue to be in 

discussions with finance staff on emerging 

developments and to ensure the audit process is smooth 

and effective.

Events

We provide a range of workshops, along with network 

events for members and publications to support the 

Council. Our annual accounts workshop is expected to 

take place early in the new year.  We will be inviting key 

members of your finance team to this.

Further details of the publications that may be of interest 

to the Council are set out in our Sector Update section 

of this report.

2017/18 Audit

We have completed our audit of the Council's 

2017/18 financial statements. Our audit opinion, 

including our value for money conclusion and 

certificate of audit closure was issued on the 31 July 

2018. 

We issued:

• An unqualified opinion on the Council’s financial 

statements; and

• An unqualified value for money conclusion on the 

Council’s arrangements to secure economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources.

We have issued all our deliverables to date for 

2017/18 and have concluded our work on the 

2017/18 financial year.

.

P
age 82



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

Audit Deliverables

5

2017/18 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Annual Certification Letter

This letter reports any matters arising from our certification work carried out under the PSAA contract. December 2018 Not yet due

2018/19 Deliverables

Fee Letter 

Confirming audit fee for 2018/19.
April 2018 Complete

Accounts Audit Plan

We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the Audit Committee setting out our proposed 

approach in order to give an opinion on the Council’s 2018/19 financial statements.
February 2019 Not yet due

Interim Audit Findings

We will report to you the findings from our interim audit and our initial value for money risk assessment within 

our Progress Report.

March 2019 Not yet due

Audit Findings Report

The Audit Findings Report will be reported to the July Audit Committee.
July 2019 Not yet due

Auditors Report

This is the opinion on your financial statement, annual governance statement and value for money conclusion.
July 2019

Not yet due

Annual Audit Letter

This letter communicates the key issues arising from our work.
August 2019

Not yet due

Annual Certification Letter

This letter reports any matters arising from our certification work. December 2019 Not yet due

P
age 83



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

Local government finances are at a tipping point. 

Councils are tackling a continuing drive to 

achieve greater efficiency in the delivery of 

public services, whilst facing the challenges to 

address rising demand, ongoing budget 

pressures and social inequality.

Our sector update provides you with an up to date summary of 

emerging national issues and developments to support you. We 

cover areas which may have an impact on your organisation, the 

wider NHS and the public sector as a whole. Links are provided to 

the detailed report/briefing to allow you to delve further and find 

out more. 

Our public sector team at Grant Thornton also undertake research 

on service and technical issues. We will bring you the latest 

research publications in this update. We also include areas of 

potential interest to start conversations within the organisation and 

with audit committee members, as well as any accounting and 

regulatory updates. 

Sector Update

6

More information can be found on our dedicated public sector and local 

government sections on the Grant Thornton website

• Grant Thornton Publications

• Insights from local  government sector 

specialists

• Reports of interest

• Accounting and regulatory updates

P
age 84



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

CIPFA consultation – Financial Resilience Index  

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

(CIPFA) has consulted on its plans to provide an authoritative 

measure of local authority financial resilience via a new 

index. The index, based on publically available information, 

will provide an assessment of the relative financial health of 

each English council.

CIPFA has designed the index to provide reassurance to councils who are financially stable 

and prompt challenge where it may be needed. To understand the sector’s views, CIPFA 

invited all interested parties to respond to questions it has put forward in the consultation by 

the 24 August.

The decision to develop an index is driven by CIPFA’s desire to support the local 

government sector as it faces a continued financial challenge. The index will not be a 

predictive model but a diagnostic tool – designed to identify those councils displaying 

consistent and comparable features that will highlight good practice, but crucially, also point 

to areas which are associated with financial failure. The information for each council will 

show their relative position to other councils of the same type. Use of the index will support 

councils in identifying areas of weakness and enable them to take action to reduce the risk of 

financial failure. The index will also provide a transparent and independent analysis based 

on a sound evidence base.

The proposed approach draws on CIPFA’s evidence of the factors associated with financial 

stress, including: 

• running down reserves 

• failure to plan and deliver savings in service provision 

• shortening medium-term financial planning horizons. 

• gaps in saving plans 

• departments having unplanned overspends and/or undelivered savings. 

Conversations with senior practitioners and sector experts have elicited a number of 

additional potential factors, including: 

• the dependency on external central financing 

• the proportion of non-discretionary spending – e.g. social care and capital financing - as a 

proportion of total expenditure 

• an adverse (inadequate) judgement by Ofsted on Children’s services 

• changes in accounting policies (including a change by the council of their minimum 

revenue provision) 

• poor returns on investments 

• low level of confidence in financial management. 

The consultation document proposes scoring six key indicators:

1. The level of total reserves excluding schools and public health as a proportion of net 

revenue expenditure. 

2. The percentage change in reserves, excluding schools and public health, over the past 

three years. 

3. The ratio of government grants to net revenue expenditure. 

4. Proportion of net revenue expenditure accounted for by children’s social care, adult 

social care and debt interest payments. 

5. Ofsted overall rating for children’s social care. 

6. Auditor’s VFM judgement. 

7

P
age 85



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

MHCLG – Social Housing Green Paper 

The Green Paper presents the opportunity to look afresh at the regulatory framework (which 

was last reviewed nearly eight years ago). Alongside this, MHCLG have published a Call for 

Evidence which seeks views on how the current regulatory framework is operating and will 

inform what regulatory changes are required to deliver regulation that is fit for purpose.

The Green Paper acknowledges that to deliver the social homes required, local authorities 

will need support to build by:

• allowing them to borrow

• exploring new flexibilities over how to spend Right to Buy receipts

• not requiring them to make a payment in respect of their vacant higher value council 

homes

As a result of concerns raised by residents, MHCLG has decided not to implement at this 

time the provisions in the Housing and Planning Act to make fixed term tenancies mandatory 

for local authority tenants.

The Green Paper is available on the MHCLG’s website at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/a-new-deal-for-social-housing

8

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

(MHCLG) published the Social Housing Green Paper, which 

seeks views on government’s new vision for social housing 

providing safe, secure homes that help people get on with 

their lives. 

With 4 million households living in social housing and projections for this to rise annually, it is 

crucial that MHCLG tackle the issues facing both residents and landlords in social housing.

The Green Paper aims to rebalance the relationship between residents and landlords, tackle 

stigma and ensure that social housing can be both a stable base that supports people when 

they need it and also support social mobility. The paper proposes fundamental reform to 

ensure social homes provide an essential, safe, well managed service for all those who need 

it.

To shape this Green Paper, residents across the country were asked for their views on 

social housing. Almost 1,000 tenants shared their views with ministers at 14 events across 

the country, and over 7,000 people contributed their opinions, issues and concerns online; 

sharing their thoughts and ideas about social housing,

The Green Paper outlines five principles which will underpin a new, fairer deal for social 

housing residents:

• Tackling stigma and celebrating thriving communities

• Expanding supply and supporting home ownership

• Effective resolution of complaints

• Empowering residents and strengthening the regulator

• Ensuring homes are safe and decent

Consultation on the Green Paper is now underway, which seeks to provide everyone with an 

opportunity to submit views on proposals for the future of social housing and will run until 6 

November 2018.

Social Housing Green Paper 

Consultation

Challenge question: 

What does the Social Housing Green Paper mean for your 

Council?

P
age 86



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

MHCLG – Business rate pilots 

The Secretary of State has invited more councils to apply for 

powers to retain the growth in their business rates under the 

new pilots. The pilots will see councils rewarded for 

supporting local firms and local jobs and ensure they benefit 

directly from the proceeds of economic growth.

From April 2019, selected pilot areas will be able to retain 75% of the growth in 

income raised through business rates, incentivising councils to encourage growth in 

business and on the high street in their areas. This will allow money to stay in 

communities and be spent on local priorities - including more funding to support 

frontline services.

This follows the success of previous waves of business rates retention pilots, 

launched in a wide range of areas across country in 2017 and 2018.

The current 50% business rates retention scheme is yielding strong results and in 

2018 to 2019 it is estimated that local authorities will keep around £2.4 billion in 

business rates growth.

Findings from the new round of pilots will help the government understand how local 

authorities can smoothly transition into the proposed system in 2020.

Proposals will need to show how local authorities would ‘pool’ their business rates 

and work collaboratively to promote financial sustainability, growth or a combination 

of these.

Alongside the pilots, the government will continue to work with local authorities, the 

Local Government Association, and others on reform options that give local 

authorities more control over the money they raise and are sustainable in the long 

term.

9

The invitation is addressed to all authorities in England, excluding those with 

ongoing business rates retention pilots in devolution areas and London. Due to 

affordability constraints, it may be necessary to assess applications against 

selection criteria, which will include:

• Proposed pooling arrangements operate across a functional economic area

• Proposal demonstrates how pooled income from growth will be used across the 

pilot area to either boost further growth, promote financial sustainability or a 

combination of these

• Proposal sets out robust governance arrangements for strategic decision-making 

around management of risk and reward and outlines how these support the 

participating authorities’ proposed pooling arrangements

Any proposals will need to show that all participating authorities have agreed to 

become part of the suggested pool and share additional growth as outlined in the 

bid. The Section 151 officer of each authority will need to sign off the proposal 

before submission.

Proposal for new pilots had to be received the MHCLG by midnight on Tuesday 25th

September 2018.

P
age 87



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

Institute of Fiscal Studies: Impact of ‘Fair 
Funding Review’ 

The IFS has published a paper that focuses on the issues 

arising in assessing the spending needs of different councils. 

The government’s ‘Fair Funding Review’ is aimed at 

designing a new system for allocating funding between 

councils. It will update and improve methods for estimating 

councils’ differing abilities to raise revenues and their differing 

spending needs. The government is looking for the new 

system to be simple and transparent, but at the same time 

robust and evidence based.

Accounting for councils’ spending needs

The IFS note that the Review is seeking a less subjective and more transparent 

approach which is focused on the relationship between spending and needs 

indicators. However, like any funding system, there will be limitations, for example, 

any attempt to assess needs will be affected by the MHCLG’s funding policies 

adopted in the year of data used to estimate the spending needs formula.  A key 

consideration will be the inherently subjective nature of ‘spending needs’ and ‘needs 

indicators’, and how this will be dealt with under any new funding approach. Whilst 

no assessment of spending needs can be truly objective, the IFS state it can and 

should be evidence based.

The IFS also note that transparency will be critical, particularly in relation to the 

impact that different choices will have for different councils, such as the year of data 

used and the needs indicators selected. These differentiating factors and their 

consequences will need to be understood and debated.

10

Accounting for councils’ revenues 

The biggest source of locally-raised revenue for councils is and will continue to be 

council tax. However, there is significant variation between councils in the amount 

of council tax raised per person. The IFS identify that a key decision for the Fair 

Funding Review is the extent wo which tax bases or actual revenues should be 

used for determining funding levels going forward.

Councils also raise significant sums of money from levying fees and charges, 

although this varies dramatically across the country. The IFS note that it is difficult 

to take account of these differences in a new funding system as there is no well-

defined measure of revenue raising capacity from sales, fees and charges, unlike 

council tax where the tax base can be used.

The overall system: redistribution, incentives 

and transparency

The IFS also identify that an important policy 

decision for the new system is the extent to which it 

prioritises redistribution between councils, compared 

to financial incentives for councils to improve their 

own socio-economic lot. A system that fully and 

immediately equalises for differences in assessed 

spending needs and revenue-raising capacity will 

help ensure different councils can provide similar 

standards of public services, However, it would 

provide little financial incentive for councils to tackle 

the drivers of spending needs and boost local 

economics and tax bases. 

Further detail on the impact of the fair funding review 

can be found in the full report 

https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/comms/R

148.pdf.

P
age 88



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

National Audit Office – The health and social care 
interface 

The NAO has published its latest ‘think piece on the barriers 

that prevent health and social care services working together 

effectively, examples of joint working in a ‘whole system’ 

sense and the move towards services centred on the needs 

of the individual. The report aims to inform the ongoing 

debate about the future of health and social care in England. 

It anticipates the upcoming green paper on the future funding 

of adult social care, and the planned 2019 Spending Review, 

which will set out the funding needs of both local government 

and the NHS. 

The report discusses 16 challenges to improved joint working. It also highlights some of the 

work being carried out nationally and locally to overcome these challenges and the progress 

that has been made. The NAO draw out the risks presented by inherent differences between 

the health and social care systems and how national and local bodies are managing these.

Financial challenges – include financial pressures, future funding uncertainties, focus on 

short-term funding issues in the acute sector, the accountability of individual organisations to 

balance the books, and differing eligibility criteria for access to health and social care 

services.  

Culture and structure – include organisational boundaries impacting on service 

management and regulation, poor understanding between the NHS and local government of 

their respective decision-making frameworks, complex governance arrangements hindering 

decision-making, problems with local leadership holding back improvements or de-stabilising 

joint working, a lack of co-terminus geographic areas over which health and local 

government services are planned and delivered, problems with sharing data across health 

and social care, and difficulties developing. person-centred care.

Strategic issues – include differences in national influence and status contributing to social 

care not being as well represented as the NHS, strategic misalignment of organisations 

across local systems inhibiting joint local planning, and central government’s unrealistic 

expectations of the pace at which the required change in working practices can progress..

This ‘think piece’ draws on the NAO’s past work and draws on recent research and reviews 

by other organisations, most notably the Care Quality Commission’s review of health and 

social care systems in 20 local authority areas, which it carried out between August 2017 

and May 2018. The NAO note  that there is a lot of good work being done nationally and 

locally to overcome the barriers to joint working, but often this is not happening at the scale 

and pace needed.

The report is available to download from the NAO’s website at: 

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-health-and-social-care-interface/

11

The health and social care interface

Challenge question: 

Has the Audit Committee considered the 16 challenges 

to joint working and what can be done to mitigate these?                                                  P
age 89



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

Care Homes for the Elderly – Where are we now?

It is a pivotal moment for the UK care homes market. In the 

next few months the government is to reveal the contents of 

its much-vaunted plans for the long-term funding of care for 

older people. 

Our latest Grant Thornton report draws together the most recent and relevant research, 

including our own sizeable market knowledge and expertise, to determine where the sector 

is now and understand where it is heading in the future. We have spoken to investors, 

providers and market consultants to showcase the diversity and innovation that care homes 

can offer.

Flourishing communities are not a ‘nice to have’ but an essential part of our purpose of 

shaping a vibrant economy. Growth simply cannot happen sustainably if business is 

disconnected from society. That is why social care needs a positive growth framing. Far 

from being a burden, the sector employs more people than the NHS, is a crucible for 

technological innovation, and is a vital connector in community life. We need to think about 

social care as an asset and invest and nurture it accordingly. 

There are opportunities to further invest to create innovative solutions that deliver improved 

tailored care packages to meet the needs of our ageing population. 

The report considers a number of aspects in the social care agenda

• market structure, sustainability, quality and evolution

• future funding changes and the political agenda

• the investment, capital and financing landscape

• new funds and methods of finance

• future outlook.

The decline in the number of public-sector focused care home beds is a trend that looks 

set to continue in the medium-term. However, it cannot continue indefinitely as Grant 

Thornton's research points to a significant rise in demand for elderly care beds over the 

coming decade and beyond.

A strategic approach will also be needed to recruit and retain the large number of workers 

needed to care for the ageing population in the future. Efforts have already begun through 

education programmes such as Skills for Care’s 'Care Ambassadors' to promote social 

care as an attractive profession. But with the number of nurses falling across the NHS as 

well, the Government will need to address the current crisis.

But the most important conversation that needs to be had is with the public around what 

kind of care services they would like to have and, crucially, how much they would be 

prepared to pay for them. Most solutions for sustainable funding for social care point 

towards increased taxation, which will generate significant political and public debate. With 

Brexit dominating the political agenda, and the government holding a precarious position in 

Parliament, shorter-term funding interventions by government over the medium-term look 

more likely than a root-and-branch reform of the current system. The sector, however, 

needs to know what choices politicians, and society as a whole, are prepared to make in 

order to plan for the future. 

Copies of our report can be requested on our website

12

Grant Thornton

Challenge question: 

How effective is the Council’s engagement with the social care 

sector?

P
age 90



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

Grant Thornton website links

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/publicsector

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/care-homes-where-are-we-now/

National Audit Office link 

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-health-and-social-care-interface/

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government links

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/social-housing-green-paper-a-new-deal-for-social-housing

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/728722/BRR_Pilots_19-20_Prospectus.pdf

Institute for Fiscal Studies

https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/comms/R148.pdf

13

Links

P
age 91



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, 

as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each 

member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 

obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. This proposal is made by Grant Thornton UK LLP and is in all respects subject to the negotiation, agreement 

and signing of a specific contract/letter of engagement. The client names quoted within this proposal are disclosed on a confidential basis. All information in this proposal is released strictly 

for the purpose of this process and must not be disclosed to any other parties without express consent from Grant Thornton UK LLP. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 92


	Agenda
	2. Minutes of the Last Meeting
	Minutes

	3. Risk Management Monitoring Report
	4. Audit Reports and Key Issues- Progress Report for the period July-October 2018
	5. Audit Follow-Ups Report for the Period August- October 2018
	6. Local Government Association- Independent Financial Peer Review Report 2018
	7. The Annual Audit Letter for Hyndburn Borough Council (Grant Thornton)
	8. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update (Grant Thornton)

